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PRESIDENT’S FOREWORD
It is not uncommon for institutions with a long and rich history
to arrive at a moment which offers unique opportunities for
change and renewal. The past year has represented such an
opportunity for the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.
The appointment of a new Director in July 2013, and a new
Executive team in January 2014 have provided impetus to
redefine and reposition the Museum. A visionary Strategic
Plan will inform experiences, audience growth and
engagement with government, industry partners, the creative
community and our visitors.
The Museum’s three sites are located in precincts undergoing
significant change. This represents a once in a lifetime
opportunity to position the Museum as a unique cultural
attraction, and to ensure that physical and temporal
connections are maximised. Over the past year the Museum
has enjoyed productive relationships with the organisations
and institutions associated with these transformations. The
Board of Trustees looks forward to the completion of the
Museum Master Plan, to guide future developments linked to
our changing city.
The year marked the completion of the terms of the Hon
Helen Sham-Ho OAM and Ms Judith Wheeldon AM as
Trustees. Each contributed to the Board’s commitment to
learning and ensuring the Museum’s inclusive and diverse
experiences meet the needs of changing audiences.
I record my appreciation, and that of my fellow Trustees, for
the support and leadership provided by the former Minister
for the Arts, the Hon George Souris MP as well as the Hon
Troy Grant MP, who was appointed Minister for the Arts in
April 2014.
I conclude by acknowledging the major contributions of the
new Director, her Executive team and the staff and volunteers
at each of the Museum’s three sites. This has been
particularly important in a period marked by significant
challenges and opportunities, calling for flexibility and positive
responsiveness to change within the Museum and the wider
community with which it engages.
Prof John Shine AO, FAA
President
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, together with
NSW’s cultural institutions, fulfil an important responsibility.
Our cultural institutions are significant economic drivers to our
state and we embed arts and culture in communities and
everyday life.
This is a responsibility the Museum of Applied Arts and
Sciences takes very seriously. Over the last financial year we
focused our energy on planning for a cycle of growth, whilst
delivering on our remit as a learning, collecting, and audiencefocused institution.
In 2013–14 the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences
developed a new Strategic Plan. Our plan outlines our vision
to be the leading Museum of Arts and Sciences, to be a
catalyst for creativity and curiosity and to achieve 100%
audience growth in five years.
We have consolidated our structure to ensure an efficient and
sustainable organisation. Our organisation is one of the first
organisations to be compliant under the new Government
Services Employees (GSE) Act.
We developed relationships and an ambitious exhibitions
program with significant institutional partners including; the
Victoria and Albert Museum (V&A), London Science Museum,
Centre Nationale du Costume de Scene, Los Angeles County
Museum of Art and the Wellcome Foundation.
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences occupies sites in
three of the most interesting and changing parts of NSW —
the Powerhouse Museum in Ultimo, Sydney Observatory at
Observatory Hill and the Discovery Centre at Castle Hill.
During the 2013–14 year we developed a significant
commercial and Master Plan for our three sites.
We delivered 571,000 visitors, 230,600 program participants
and over two million online visitors. Our regional programs
attracted 458,000 visitors.
Museums are in a constant state of change. To survive and
thrive museums must recalibrate their role, their relationship
with audiences and their international remit. Our Museum
enjoys a remarkable opportunity at a particular point in time.
We will ensure we capitalise on this opportunity.
Rose Hiscock
Director
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GOVERNANCE
Charter
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS) was
established under the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences
Act 1945 (MAAS Act). Aspects of the Museum’s
management and governance are also covered under the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Regulation 2007. The
Museum has perpetual succession, has a common seal, may
purchase, hold, grant, demise, dispose of or otherwise deal
with real and personal property and may sue and be sued in
its corporate name ‘The Trustees of the Museum of Applied
Arts and Sciences’. The Museum was established following
the 1879 Sydney International Exhibition which was its
genesis.

The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 was:
Prof John Shine AO, FAA (President)
Prof Shirley Alexander
Mr John Barbouttis
Ms Elizabeth Bryan AM
Mr Robert Cameron AO
Ms Lisa Chung
Mr Tim Ebbeck
Mr James Longley
Dr Judith O’Callaghan
Hon Helen Sham-Ho OAM to 31.12.13
Ms Judith Wheeldon AM to 31.12.13
(For details about the Trustees see Appendix 1)
Senior management structure

At 30 June 2014 the MAAS was responsible for the
Powerhouse Museum, Sydney Observatory, the Powerhouse
Discovery Centre: Collection Stores at Castle Hill and the
NSW Migration Heritage Centre and employed 232.7 FTE
staff. The Museum was supported by 440 volunteers in
2013–14.

The Director is responsible to the Trustees of the Museum
and the Minister for the Arts, through the NSW Department
of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and
Services, for the overall management and control of the
Museum and its activities.

The MAAS Act requires the Museum to:

The Museum engages in several levels of performance
review practice. The Director has a performance agreement
with the President of the Board of Trustees and the Secretary
of NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional
Infrastructure and Services, which is reviewed annually. There
are also performance agreements between the Director and
the Divisional Directors.

effectively minister to the needs and demands of the
community in any or all branches of applied science and art
and the development of industry by:
(i)

the display of selected objects arranged to illustrate the
industrial advance of civilisation and the development of
inventions and manufactures,
(ii) the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste by
illustrating the history and development of the applied
arts,
(iii) lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and other
educational means,
(iv) scientific research, or
(v) any other means necessary or desirable for the
development of the natural resources and manufacturing
industries of New South Wales.
Our Mission
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences is a catalyst for
creative expression and curious minds.
Our Vision
To be the leading Museum of applied arts and sciences;
inspiring communities and transforming our world.
Our Values
Integrity. Courage. Passion.
The Museum’s Guarantee of Service is available online at:
http://www.powerhousemuseum.com/pdf/about/policies/
Guarantee_of_service.pdf
Corporate governance
The Museum is governed by a Board of Trustees appointed
under the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Act 1945.
Under the provisions of the Act, the nine Trustees of the
Museum are appointed by the Governor, on the
recommendation of the Minister, for a term of up to three
years, and may serve for a maximum of three full terms,
excepting if their first term was not a full term they may be
appointed for a fourth term. The Trustees represent the
community and oversee the management and policy direction
of the Museum. The Trust met six times in 2013–14 to
consider and give formal approval to major procedural and
policy matters on advice from management.
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Review mechanisms

Internal review mechanisms include weekly meetings of
Museum Executive (Director with Divisional Directors),
fortnightly meetings of the Senior Management Team
(department heads), meetings of the Finance Committee,
meetings of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and
Executive reports to the Board of Trustees. Daily reports are
generated on visitation and revenue for each site.
The Museum’s direction in 2013–14 was guided by the
priorities of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 2020
Vision.
The Plan is viewable at www.maas.museum

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
2013–14 was a year of transformation for the Museum of
Applied Arts and Sciences. The Museum focused on building
a new team, as well as a new vision, exhibitions program and
operating model.
New Leadership
During 2013–14 the Museum engaged a new Executive Team
to provide renewed leadership and direction.
Rose Hiscock commenced as Director in July 2013. Formerly
Executive Director Arts Development, Australia Council for
the Arts, Rose brings strong vision and leadership to the
Museum.
Elizabeth Stratford commenced as Director Corporate
Resources and CFO in September 2013. Formerly Director of
Financial Performance Management for the Department of
Education and Communities, her 15 years in the public sector
include senior roles in NSW Treasury, the South Eastern
Sydney Illawarra Health Service, Australian Broadcasting
Corporation and Department of Environment and
Conservation.
Dolla Merrillees commenced as Director Curatorial,
Collections and Exhibitions in January 2014. Formerly
Associate Director, Sherman Contemporary Art Foundation,
Dolla is responsible for ensuring the MAAS collections,
exhibitions and research reach the broadest possible
audience.
Michael Parry commenced as Director Public Engagement in
January 2014. Formerly Deputy Director at the Australian
Centre for the Moving Image (ACMI). Michael has
responsibility for the Museum’s public facing activities
including programs, online and commercial activities.
2014–2019 STRATEGIC PLAN
With new leadership in place, MAAS released its 2020 Vision
in May 2014. The vision sets a clear direction for the Museum
and its iconic venues — Powerhouse Museum, Sydney
Observatory and Powerhouse Discovery Centre.

The structure reduces 35 individual teams to 16
interdisciplinary teams — each headed by a Manager
providing greater opportunities for shared knowledge and a
whole-of-organisation working model. It aims to provide
significant opportunities for MAAS employees to enhance
existing skills, learn new capabilities and become more
engaged across the Museum.
The restructure reduces staffing costs to 50 percent of the
Museum’s operating budget — in line with similar cultural
institutions. The new structure is the key enabler to establish
an agile, sustainable organisation.
A range of staff support services accompanied the change
process. These included: access to the Museum’s employee
assistance provider, resilience through change workshops,
State Super Financial Services sessions and workshops in
resumé preparation and interview skills.
Following consultation, implementation of the Plan
commenced in June.
Further details of the Department structures are provided
within the Department Reports.
New employment arrangements
On 24 February 2014 the Government Sector Employment
(GSE) Act came into effect, replacing the Public Sector
Employment and Management Act 2002.
Museum staff are now directly employed by MAAS, which is
now designated as an Executive Agency. Previously staff
were employed by NSW Trade & Investment, of which MAAS
constituted an agency of the principal department. The
secretary of NSW Trade & Investment retains the contract of
employment for MAAS Senior Executive Service staff, but
has delegated management responsibility to the Director
MAAS and the Executive Agency.
The Act provides for a shift from the concept of individuals
owning a position, to a system that focuses on being
appointed to a classification and assigned to a role within that
classification. The approach increases workforce flexibility and
mobility for staff.

The five year plan outlines our vision, ambition, areas of focus
and a new interdisciplinary model of working.

Changes were made to what constitutes temporary
employment, new merit-based selection processes have been
introduced and new promotional appeals mechanisms developed.

The vision outlines the objectives of the organisation going
forward including

OUR PRECINCTS — PART OF SYDNEY’S RENEWAL

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Audience growth across all categories
A vibrant program of exhibitions, events and public
engagements
Significant economic and social returns to the state of
NSW
Increased stakeholder support
A sustainable organisation for future generations
Sustainable collections management
Renewal of permanent galleries
A confident brand and visual identity
Building acclaim
Regional accessibility
Government priority alignment

WORKFORCE RESTRUCTURE
On 1 May the Museum commenced the formal consultation
process to align the staffing structure to the Strategic Plan.
The new structure will encapsulate the ethos of the
Government Sector Employment Act by achieving a mobile
staff, ensuring integration across each of the Museum’s three
sites, whilst building capacity to generate income and
developing a highly skilled, interdisciplinary workforce.

The Powerhouse Museum is part of a dynamic and rapidly
changing educational and cultural precinct, which includes the
University of Technology Sydney (UTS), Sydney Institute of
TAFE and the national headquarters of the ABC. UTS is
currently undertaking the largest building expansion program
underway at an Australian university. Australian and
international architects are creating outstanding buildings,
which include the Frank Gehry designed Business School
adjacent to the Museum.
The redevelopment of Darling Harbour and Haymarket
provides opportunities for the Powerhouse to more
effectively engage with the business, entertainment and
residential life of these new communities.
A large proportion of Sydney’s creative industries practitioners
and start ups are also located in the precinct and inner city
suburbs nearby.
The City of Sydney granted planning approval to Sydney
Harbour Foreshore Authority (SHFA) for construction of The
Goods Line, to provide a pedestrian and cycle connection
between Central Railway and the Darling Harbour
redevelopment. Construction commenced in March 2014 and
will be completed early in 2015.
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The Goods Line will enhance pedestrian access to the
Museum, and provide opportunities for activation through
public and learning programs that reflect the disciplines
articulated in the Strategic Plan.
The Museum has granted landowners consent to enable
Macarthur Street to connect to The Goods Line, and to
provide an at-grade connection to Darling Harbour. This
permits the removal of the pedestrian overbridge which
spans the Museum car park.
Sydney Observatory, and the historic Observatory Hill and
Millers Point communities, are adjacent to Barangaroo, the
largest renewal project to be undertaken in Sydney this
century. By 2020, 23,000 people will live and work in the
precinct, and pedestrian and cycle paths will connect new
audiences to its surrounding historic neighbourhoods.
The Powerhouse Discovery Centre: Collection Stores at
Castle Hill will benefit from the construction of the NorthWest
Rail link, which will for the first time provide convenient public
transport access for the wider Sydney community to the
Museum’s publicly accessible storage facility.
MASTER PLAN
In November 2013 NSW Trade & Investment provided funds
to develop a comprehensive Master Plan for the Museum’s
three sites. The Plan comprises three elements: a commercial
strategy, an architectural response and presentation
materials.
Expressions of Interest were invited in December 2013,
followed by a Request for Tender in February 2014. In March
Ernst & Young, in partnership with Francis-Jones Morehen
Thorp (FJMT) architects were engaged to prepare a
commercial strategy, master plan concept drawings and
presentation materials.
At its December 2013 meeting the Board of Trustees
approved a Project Steering Group to oversee its completion.
Chaired by the Director, its membership included the
Museum Executive, Trustee Lisa Chung, Deputy Secretary,
NSW Trade & Investment Angus Armour, State Government
Architect Peter Poulet and Deputy Vice Chancellor Resources,
UTS Patrick Woods.
The focus of the project is to unlock the commercial potential
of the Museum’s asset base, including both the Ultimo and
Sydney Observatory sites.
The project will include an architectural response to the
commercial plan. The design should be sympathetic to and
considerate of the Museum’s precincts and existing buildings.
It is anticipated the project will be completed in October
2014.
A significant new cultural facility at Castle Hill
The Museum is constructing a significant new cultural facility
at Castle Hill, to provide world class storage for the
collections held by three of our state cultural institutions —
the Australian Museum, Sydney Living Museums and the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. The year saw
significant progress in construction, with an anticipated
completion date in 2015.
The new facility will offer visitors behind-the-scenes access to
engage with the breadth and depth of the collections, and an
enhanced cultural destination for communities in Sydney’s
north and north western suburbs.
The development includes educational learning and public
engagement areas including a new theatrette, video
classroom and dedicated education spaces, which will allow
the Centre to better present programs to schools and regional
8

audiences. A new 9,000 square metre building will provide
collection storage over three levels and open to the public and
new conservation workrooms.
Together these facilities will make it more efficient for staff
from the three museums to store and care for the objects in
their collections. The project will ensure these collections are
preserved for current and future generations, and meet the
storage needs of the participating institutions for the next 10
years.
The facility will build on the success of the Powerhouse
Discovery Centre, which opened in 2007 and has become a
significant cultural attraction in north western Sydney. The
complementary collections of the Australian and Sydney
Living Museums will provide opportunities to broaden the
range of public and education programs offered by the
Centre.
The project is an excellent example of collaboration between
our cultural institutions. A joint steering committee, with
representatives from each of the museums is responsible for
delivering the project. The storage facility will be available for
occupancy in late 2015. Funding for the project from the NSW
Government is $33.6 million over three years.
A Third Dome for Sydney Observatory
Sydney Observatory commenced operations in 1858. It is the
earliest substantial observatory in Australia and is relatively
complete in the preservation of its buildings and its
instruments.
The Observatory remained a research observatory until 1982
when it came under the auspices of the Museum of Applied
Arts and Sciences and became a museum of astronomy and a
public observatory with a focus on astronomy education.
A project to build a telescope dome accessible to people with
disabilities, is scheduled for completion in December 2014.
The project has received funding from the Department of
Family and Community Services, Ageing, Disability and Home
Care NSW because it will enable a significant number of
people to view the stars and planets using a large telescope
within an historic dome. It is a unique project globally, and has
the support of Heritage NSW and the City of Sydney.
Sydney Observatory and the Barangaroo Development
At its December meeting, the Board of Trustees was briefed
on plans for Barangaroo South by representatives of the
Barangaroo Delivery Authority, and Lend Lease, which is
responsible for the site development. It was noted the
development will have an impact on viewing of the night sky
from Sydney Observatory.
A number of significant constellations are seen in the night
sky to the west of the Observatory. The towers proposed for
Barangaroo South will limit their visibility for some periods of
the year. The overall Barangaroo development also has the
potential to create light spill and sky glow, which will reduce
visibility of the night sky from the Observatory.
The Barangaroo development provides an important
opportunity for Sydney Observatory. The Museum is in
discussion with the Barangaroo Delivery Authority and Lend
Lease to maximise the Observatory’s connections to the new
precinct.
A dynamic forward exhibition program
During the year the Museum focused on building an exciting
program of forward exhibitions. Exhibitions have been
developed with a clear vision to ensure more of the Museum
collection is on display and bring internationally renowned
exhibitions to NSW.

The exhibition program is aligned to the themes of the
Strategic Plan, and focuses on the eight disciplines articulated
in the plan. A major announcement of the program for the
years to 2017 is anticipated early in the next financial year.
Enhancing international reach and reputation
The Museum seeks to position itself internationally as an
acclaimed and innovative museum of science and design.
In October the Director travelled to the United Kingdom and
France to establish relationships with similar museums of
applied arts and sciences. These included The Victoria and
Albert Museum (V&A) London, London Science Museum,
Musée des Arts Décoratifs Paris, Cité de Sciences Paris and
Musée des Arts et Métiers Paris.
In late 2014 the Museum will host the first of the travelling
exhibitions to result from the Museum’s international
strategy: an exhibition of circus costumes from the Centre
National du Costume de Scene, Moulins, France.
In March the Director Curatorial, Collections and Exhibitions
Dolla Merrillees attended the official opening of Dongdaemun
Design Plaza (DDP), Seoul, as a guest of DDP and met staff at
the Museum of Modern and Contemporary Art Seoul, Leeum
Samsung Museum of Art, Korea Foundation and the
Australian Embassy Seoul.
She later travelled to Shanghai and Singapore and met staff
from the Shanghai Museum, the Shanghai Propaganda Poster
Art Centre and visited the Shanghai History Museum, Long
Museum, Yuz Museum and Power Station of Art.
The National Museum of Singapore and the ArtScience
Museum have expressed interest in establishing a formal
partnership with the Museum to co-curate exhibitions, loan
objects and host MAAS exhibitions in Singapore.
In May Toner Stevenson, Manager Sydney Observatory,
attended an international conference Revealing Lives:
Women in Science 1800–2002 at the Royal Society, London
and was a guest at the Observatory and Science Centre at
Royal Observatory, Herstmonceaux, to inspect its Grubb
astrographic telescope, education and public programs.
A full list of travel undertaken by staff is included at Appendix 3
Establishing a new visual identity
In May Boccalatte design agency was engaged to conceptualise
and design a new Visual Identity System. This will represent
the Museum’s mission and vision, and promote both the
individuality of each of the three MAAS venues while creating
a consistent communication platform across the brand family.
The Visual Identity System will apply to all internal and
external brand communications including corporate
templates, marketing campaigns and web-based applications.
Delivery of the final visual identity system design, collateral
and brand style guide manual is expected by late October
2014.
Improving our Standards
In March the Museum introduced new Customer Service
Standards, based on the new Strategic Plan values. A
Customer Experience Advocacy Group was established to
drive improvement. A revised dress code was implemented,
along with training on the refined standards.
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OUR AUDIENCES 2013–14
Powerhouse Museum Visitor Origin
11%
Sydney

20%

Other NSW

55%

Interstate
Overseas

14%

Powerhouse Museum
Sydney
55%
Other NSW
14%
Interstate
20%
Overseas
11%

Sydney Observatory Visitor Origin

34%

Sydney

56%

Other NSW
Interstate
Overseas

5%
5%

Sydney Observatory
Sydney
56%
Other NSW
5%
Interstate
5%
Overseas
34%

Powerhouse Discovery Centre Visitor Origin
1% 1%

Sydney
Other NSW
Interstate

98%

PDC
Sydney
Other NSW
Interstate
Overseas
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98%
1%
1%
0%

During 2013–14, over 570,000 visitors attended exhibitions,
programs and events at the Powerhouse Museum, Sydney
Observatory or Powerhouse Discovery Centre. Total financial
year visitation was 2.0% higher than target visitation for the
year.

Total visitors on site

571,085

Powerhouse Museum

381,582

Sydney Observatory

171,136

Powerhouse Museum

Powerhouse Discovery Centre

Admissions to the Powerhouse Museum of 381,582 were in
line with target for the year. Total annual visitation was 16.1%
lower than ten year average. The Game Masters exhibition
attracted 93,370 visitors exceeding target visitation by 3%.

Total visitors off site

As the charts on page 10 indicate, throughout 2013–14,
Sydney residents represented 55% of Powerhouse Museum
audiences while a further 14% of visitors were regional New
South Wales residents. Interstate visitors represented 20% of
total admissions while overseas visitors accounted for 11% of
total visitation. Audience visitation figures for 2013–14 were
sourced from a year-long visitor exit study rather than our
front of house admissions data due to an ongoing systems
upgrade.
Sydney Observatory
Sydney Observatory attracted 171,136 visitors during the
2013–14 financial year. Total admissions were 13.6% higher
than target, and 7.6% higher than the average financial year
visitation over the past decade.
The school holiday periods were particularly busy throughout
the year, with more than 55,000 visitors participating in school
holiday activities and programs. The 3D theatre also
continued to attract solid audiences, with 12,769 visits
compared with a target of 7,815. Education visits across the
full financial year of 17,590 exceeded target by 34.3% while
total night admissions of 31,528 exceeded expectations by
32.2%.

Engagement overview

2013–14

18,367
475,913

Total visitors on and off site

1,046,998

On line visitors

2,773,722

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
Museum memberships (at 30 June 2014)
Museum members (at 30 June 2014)

5,911
20,432

Volunteer number

440

Volunteer hours

36,901

Lectures and presentations on site

43

Participants in public programs (Powerhouse)
Participants in education programs
(Powerhouse onsite)

165,438
45,413

Sponsorship (cash)

$100,000

Sponsorship (in kind) (excluding value add on
media spend)

$23,256

Powerhouse Foundation income

$67,862

OUTREACH
Regional Services events/programs
participants

14,058

Number of Regional Services events/
programs

151

Number of Regional NSW organisations
engaged

78

As the charts on page 10 demonstrate, the place of origin for
Sydney Observatory visitors during 2013–14 is consistent
with longer term visitation trends. Sydney residents
represented slightly more than half of total audiences, while a
further 5% each resided in regional New South Wales or
interstate. International visitors comprised the remaining 34%
of total visitors, continuing to represent the largest proportion
of international visitors across all three MAAS sites.

Off-site exhibitions

Visitors to

Actual

Target

% against
target

Powerhouse Discovery Centre

Powerhouse
Museum

381,582

389,239

98%

Sydney
Observatory

171,136

150,700

114%

Powerhouse
Discovery
Centre

18,367

19,705

93%

571,085

559,644

102%

For the full 2013–14 financial year, the Powerhouse Discovery
Centre achieved total admissions of 18,367. Although total
overall visitation for the full financial year was 6.8% lower
than target, visitation remained consistent with the ten year
average and showed a 6.0% increase compared with 2012–
13 admissions.
The four Open Weekends were particularly popular, attracting
4,206 visitors across the year. The June flight-themed Open
Weekend was the most successful yet, drawing a crowd of
1,384 visitors in two days. The school holiday programs were
also well attended, with most activities booked out in each
school holiday period. Across the full financial year, almost
10,000 people attended programs at the Powerhouse
Discovery Centre.
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Off-site lectures and presentations

86

Collection objects on loan

Total visitors on
site

461

Primarily due to its location in North West Sydney, visitation
to the Powerhouse Discovery Centre continues to be almost
exclusively drawn from the great Sydney metropolitan area
(98%). Among Sydney visitors, slightly more than half were
Western Sydney residents, while 26% were Northern Sydney
residents, which is reasonably consistent with visitation
patterns in previous years.
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MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES ORGANISATION CHART 2013–14
Director
MAAS

Director

Director

Director

Director

Programs &
Engagement

Curatorial, Collections
& Exhbitions

Corporate Resources
& CFO

Development &
External Affairs

Visitor Services &
Venues

Strategic Collections

Finance

Government Relations
& External Affairs

Programs

Curatorial

Human Resources

Development

Commercial

Production

Facilities & Asset
Management

Communications

Digital & Media

Research

Governance, Planning
& Reporting

Research & Analysis

Sydney Observatory

Library Services

Powerhouse Discovery
Centre (PDC)
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DEPARTMENT REPORTS
CURATORIAL, COLLECTIONS AND EXHIBITIONS
DEPARTMENT

The Strategic Collections Team includes Registration,
Conservation, Library and Archives/Photo Library. This multidisciplinary team:
•

A new Department Structure
A new structure for the Department was announced as part
of the Change Management Plan in May. Implementation of
the changes commenced in June, with anticipated
completion in October 2014.
The restructured Department develops and manages
collections, conducts research, and develops and maintains
long-term and temporary exhibitions.
It provides content to the Museum’s multi-faceted programs
and experiences. The Department initiates, develops and
maintains relationships with internal and external stakeholders
and explores ways to expand and disseminate knowledge
about the collection and MAAS.
The key changes:
•

•
•
•

•

•
•

•

The existing structure consisting of nine teams was
realigned to three: Curatorial, Production and Strategic
Collections
Each team is led by a manager (‘Head’)
Conservation, Registration, Library and Archives have
been integrated into a single Strategic Collections Team
Exhibitions and Festivals, Design, Editorial and Publishing
have been integrated into a single multi-disciplinary
Production Team
Workshops/Technical services transferred from Facilities
– Corporate Resources to be incorporated into the
Production Team
Interactives was incorporated into the Programs and
Engagement Department
A new Research Coordinator role has been created
reporting directly to the Head Curatorial, supporting all
teams in this Department and Programs and Engagement
A new Curator Contemporary position has been created
reporting to the Head Curatorial and working across all
teams including Programs and Engagement

The Teams and their roles
The Curatorial Team supports initiatives including research,
collection development, exhibitions, collection displays,
interpretation and publishing. It makes accessible the collections
and scholarship of MAAS, developing and nurturing relationships
in support of the Museum's vision and strategic ambitions.
The Curatorial Team:
•
•
•

develops curatorial and collection development plans,
strategies and policies
contributes to the strategic identification, development
and delivery of major exhibitions and programs
oversees permanent collection displays.

The Production Team includes Design, Exhibitions, Editorial
and Publishing and Workshop/Technical Services:
•

•

•

responsible for the commissioning, coordination and
management of a diverse program of exhibitions across
multiple platforms
coordinates all proposals for exhibitions and is skilled in
the development and production of multi-media
experiences for the Museum visitor
collaborates and works closely with a wide range of
external and internal stakeholders.

•
•

documents, administers, preserves, conserves and
formulates the policies that guide the development and
care of the Museum’s collection consistent with the
mission of MAAS and within professional standards
maintains and develops information systems, archives
and library
works in collaboration with other departments and
external stakeholders, concentrating on collectioncentered work, balancing display requirements,
conservation and scientific research.

Exhibition Review and Planning
In November 2013 Deloitte undertook an internal audit of
exhibition planning and management. Its purpose was to
evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of the
internal controls established to mitigate specific potential
risks associated with the planning and management of
exhibitions, and to make recommendations for improvement.
Following the Audit an Exhibition Review Committee was
established. This provided for establishment of a formal
written exhibition proposal process, a formal postimplementation review for all exhibitions, a five year strategic
forward exhibition plan; and exhibition budgets establishment
and monitoring approved by the Executive.
The Exhibition Review Committee met for the first time in
April to confirm and endorse the processes and procedures
for the assessment and approvals of exhibitions. Monthly
meetings were subsequently scheduled.
Significant acquisitions
A concert grand piano made by Carl Bechstein in Berlin in
1878 won First Prize in the musical instruments section of the
Sydney International Exhibition, 1879. This piano is of great
significance as one of the few remaining artefacts that can be
positively identified as having been exhibited in Australia's
first international exhibition. It was brought to Australia by
Bechstein expressly for the exhibition and has remained in
Australia ever since.
A 1925 horse-drawn show sulky is an example of the most
common form of horse-drawn carriage in Australia. The sulky
became popular after its general introduction in the 1880s and
remained so into the 1950s, especially in rural areas. This
sulky is a fine example of a show vehicle used for judged
events at Sydney’s Royal Easter Show. It was used in show
events for about 80 years.
Sydney’s Monorail was a landmark and controversial public
transport system in the city for 25 years from 1988 to 2013.
The Museum acquired the operator's cab and a passenger car
of one of the six trains that travelled on an elevated single
continuous loop track connecting Darling Harbour with the
city's central business and shopping districts.
Two significant Apple products were acquired for the
Interface exhibition, planned for the next financial year. The
original Apple iPhone reinvented the phone, with a
combination of wide-screen iPod, phone, camera and an
Internet connector. The iPad is a tablet computer designed to
be portable, easy to use, and with a radio wifi link to enable
communication with databases and computers.
‘Crossing the Ice’ Antarctic expedition equipment used by
Australian adventurers, James Castrission and Justin Jones
on their expedition to the South Pole, October 2011 – January
2012, included ski poles, cache markers and flags, ski boots,
clothing, iPod devices, laptop computer, electronic
equipment, toiletries, first aid and medical kits, and diaries.
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Significant loans

Publications

The Enigma machine accompanied Principal Curator Matthew
Connell to the University of NSW for a lecture titled ‘Turing:
Pioneer of the Information Age’ by Professor Jack Copeland.

Three new books were produced in 2013–14.

The Earnshaw chronometer and long-case clock were lent to
the National Library of Australia for display in the Mapping our
World: terra incognita to Australia exhibition.
Conservation highlights
Conservation staff prepared objects for a range of exhibitions
scheduled for the next financial year, particularly for A Fine
Possession: Jewellery and Identity which will feature 700
objects and for Interface: People, Machine, Design. The Dick
Smith helicopter was prepared and installed in the Museum
for an overnight talk by Dick Smith to celebrate the 30th
anniversary of his solo flight around the world. The helicopter
is now on loan to Kings School, Parramatta.
Two conservators presented a workshop on caring for large
machinery to the Uralla Historical Society at McCrossin’s Mill.
Two case studies have been written on caring for farm
machinery, comparing restoration with conservation
treatments. These resources support regional workshops and
public enquiries.
A conservator assisted with four Australian Dress Register
workshops in the Hunter region. This was a successful
collaboration between Museums and Galleries NSW, the
Australian Museum of Clothing and Textiles (AMCAT,
Maitland) and MAAS. The purpose was to train local museum
staff and volunteers in collection management, photography,
research, interpretation, conservation and display techniques
and has resulted in new entries for the Dress Register.
Locomotive 3265 took part in the annual Festival of Steam at
Thirlmere in March, and travelled to Junee and Albury in April.
Former Deputy Prime Minister, Tim Fisher, was in attendance
and rode the train. This was the longest trip that the locomotive
has undertaken since restoration. Locomotive 3265 also ran
at Maitland Steamfest in April and 50 steam-related objects
were displayed at the event.
A program of conservation has been completed for the
Astrograph telescope to prepare it for display at Sydney
Observatory. The Astrograph was part of a worldwide project
to photograph and measure the stars in each hemisphere. It
began just after photography was invented in the 1880s.
The Archival Conservation Research project on the treatment
and conservation of black and white photographs from the
Speedo collection was completed. 70 photographs were
analysed and damage factors identified, then they were
cleaned, treated and remounted into an archival storage
system. This work was presented at the 8th AICCM Book and
Photographic Materials Symposium.
Research support
During 2013–14, the richness and eclecticism of the Research
Library’s collection, which dates from 1880, continued to
attract Australian and overseas researchers from the academic,
antiques, architectural, art, corporate, design, fashion, film,
history, library, literary, museum and gallery, private,
publishing, regional, student, television and theatre arenas.
Subjects researched ranged through such topics as Australian
hat styles, 19th century botanical illustrations, furnishings and
foodstuffs of the 1870s, Turkish steam locomotives, Elsa
Schiaparelli, Phoenix silverware, characters in William
Shakespeare’s The Tempest, Caribbean houses, Sheridan
sheets, Kodak cameras, the 1912 Rolls-Royce Silver Ghost,
Ascraft Fabrics, Mark Foy’s advertising, Russian textiles.
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Powerhouse Publishing partnered with NSW Office of Rail
Heritage on Rail Tales: Emily’s big adventure published in
August. Rail tales was co-written by Margaret Simpson
curator, Science and Industry and Helen Whitty manager,
Family and Community Experiences. A combination of
illustration and historic photos from the State Rail archives,
this book is a history lesson disguised as a charming series of
stories. To date the book has sold 800 copies. RRP $16.95
To coincide with the 40th anniversary of the opening of the
Sydney Opera House, a new edition of Building a
Masterpiece was published in August with a new chapter by
former Museum curator Anne Watson on a little known and
much misunderstood story: the architect who took over from
Jorn Utzon and completed the project. To date the book has
sold around half its 1000 print run. RRP $75
The 2014 Australasian Sky Guide by Dr Nick Lomb, published
in October, contains information about the southern night sky
for Australia and New Zealand and is available in print or
ebook format. It sells around 2,000 copies annually. The book
sold approximately 1500 copies. RRP $16.95
The Museum produced four issues of Powerline magazine,
providing an important link with members and the wider
community. The magazine chronicles the Museum’s major
exhibitions, events, issues, acquisitions, outreach programs
and ‘behind-the-scenes’ stories.
PROGRAMS AND ENGAGEMENT DEPARTMENT
A new department structure
A new structure for the Department was announced as part
of the Change Management Plan in May. Implementation of
the changes commenced in June, with anticipated
completion in October 2014.
The Programs and Engagement Department works to deliver
quality customer experiences at the three sites. An
interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary approach is taken across
all in-venue and online programs, projects and activities. The
department’s work spans public programming, education,
visitor services and venue support, regional, digital, ICT, online
and media production services. The team also drives our
commercial and business activity in support of the Museum's
vision and strategic ambitions.
The key changes
The former structure, which had 12 Teams (Operations
(including Security), Customer Relations, FACE, Education,
Digital and Emerging Technologies, Contemporary, Events,
Sydney Observatory, PDC, Migration Heritage Centre,
Regional Program) was realigned to six:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Visitor Services & Venues
Programs
Commercial
Digital & Media
Sydney Observatory
Powerhouse Discovery Centre

The teams and their roles
All groups that currently work with customers and venue
management have been integrated into a new Visitor
Services & Venues Team. This handles all customer service,
ticketing and booking as well as venue management.
Responsibilities across Retail, Food and Beverage, Events and
Catering and membership have been integrated into a new
Commercial Team.

The previously separate programming teams of Family and
Community Experiences, Contemporary Programs, Education,
Learning and Technology and Regional Programs have been
integrated into a new Programs Team. Two streams of activity
were created: Digital Learning and Education, and
Partnerships and Festivals. These streams are supported by a
multi-skilled Program Production group. Roles within this
Team were established for Regional, Cultural and Linguistic
Diversity (CALD) and Indigenous programs.
The Migration Heritage Centre as a specific public program
was replaced, with ongoing migration heritage, regional
programming and cultural diversity engagement programs
embedded within a new Cultural Diversity Strategy developed
and delivered as part of the Programs Team’s remit.
A revised team of Digital and Media encompasses the former
ICT, Online Services, Visual and Digitisation teams, the
Interactives Team and Theatres Team. The three units within
the Digital and Media Team are ICT, Media Production and
Media Technologies.
Sydney Observatory and the Powerhouse Discovery Centre
remain as separate teams, but with greater coordination and
staff sharing and support on these sites between the
Programs and Visitor Services and Venues teams.
PROGRAMS
Sydney Design 13 — can clever design change the world?
Over 75 exhibitions, displays, talks, workshops and tours,
both at the Museum and city-wide, were delivered during
Sydney Design. At the Museum, the 3x3x3 Design Challenge
highlighted the theme ‘Design re think — can clever design
save the world?’ This theme was addressed in a lecture by
Eko Prawoto and David Sheppard, and further explored in a
hypothetical facilitated by Nell Schofield.
Curators led design basement tours, Buildscapes encouraged
visitors to create imaginary cityscapes and a selection of
design films screened in Kings Cinema. Edible green walls
transformed the Level 3 Cafe, accompanied by three green
wall talks and a forum. The closing days of Sydney Design
focused on the design process with ten Pop-up studios, a
colouring-in wall and envelope making workshops.
Design group Churchward Melhuish was appointed to
develop a new visual identity for Sydney Design. The bold ‘D’
design concept was delivered in a campaign that included
outdoor, print and online advertising and direct marketing, and
publicity.
Ultimo Science Festival — a precinct partnership
The annual festival was presented in partnership with key
science education stakeholders in the precinct including UTS,
the ABC and the Sydney Institute of TAFE. More than 6,000
visitors engaged with science events and exhibitions at the
Museum.
Among a sample of 570 festival visitors, 98% indicated that
they were either very satisfied (79%) or somewhat satisfied
(19%) with the festival.
A diverse range of programs and events
In July Dick Smith spoke about his solo around the world
helicopter flight undertaken 30 years prior.
A keynote lecture and masterclass was delivered by Anna
Cutler, Director of Learning at Tate, UK. This was produced in
partnership with the Art Gallery of NSW, Sydney Opera
House and Museum of Contemporary Art. The lecture
centred on creative learning and audience engagement.
July also featured the return of the popular Oikodome:
building architects interactive experience which was a feature

of the Winter school holidays. The building aspect was further
enhanced by the inclusion of mathematic stations that
involved such things as geometric shape building.
Author Jane Gleeson-White presented a lecture ‘How
numbers came to rule the world’ in August.
In October musicians from Sydney Symphony Orchestra,
along with participants from Thinkspace’s accessible
interactive music and technology programs, performed to an
audience of 232 visitors in the Turbine Hall.
World Space Week was celebrated over the October long
weekend. Presentations around the theme of Exploring Mars,
Discovering Earth were delivered by Dr Kerrie Dougherty,
curator of Space Technology, and Dr Naomi Mathers, Industry
Liaison Engineer at the ANU Advanced Instrumentation and
Technology Centre.
A range of programs were developed to support the Playing
with Light exhibition as part of the spring and summer school
holiday programs. This included the Glow in the Dark Science
Show and all day workshop, Kaleidoscope and UV Detective
drop-in workshops and the Shadow Play interactive program.
In November the Museum partnered with the Australian
Digital Alliance to host an event to discuss what creation
looks like in the digital era. Speakers included Tom Uglow,
Creative Director of Google Labs.
Programs for the Game Masters exhibition included
transforming the Turbine Hall into an interactive dance zone
with Just Dance over January. An all day workshop was
developed exploring the science behind the Angry Birds
phenomenon. The Museum was the host venue for the
Game Jam awards.
Professor Sarah Kenderdine National Institute for
Experimental Arts, College of Fine Arts, University of New
South Wales visited the Museum in February with Professor
Ide-Ektessabi from Kyoto University and presented to a
number of staff working in digital media about their innovative
scanning projects with important artworks at ultra high
resolution and high colour accuracy.
In March the Museum was featured in an article on
Mashable, a leading source for news, information and
resources. The article, titled ‘Fall in Louvre With These 14
Museums on Instagram’, included international accounts from
MoMA, Tate, Smithsonian and The Louvre. This article has
increased the Museum’s followers by over 900 from 1600 to
2558 with a significant increase in engagement.
In March, co-founder and Director of the London Design
Festival, Ben Evans presented a talk on design innovation and
experimentation.
The Strictly Ballroom Story was supported by a ballroom
dance class program for families with Footsteps Dance
Company and the creation of a new Zoe paper doll series
featuring costumes from the films. A drop-in workshop called
Spotted Bubble Lanterns was developed for and took
inspiration from the George Nelson: Architect, Designer,
Writer, Teacher.
In April, the Museum celebrated the International Day of
Human Space Flight (Yuri’s Night) with a unique musical
performance. From Ether was an experience of visual images
taken from a star’s perspective, accompanied by pianist
Andrea Keller. The performance was a collaboration between
the Museum and the Sydney Improvised Music Association.
Museum staff and volunteers contributed to the success of
the 2014 Maitland Hunter Valley Steamfest. The weekend
event attracted over 60,000 visitors.
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In May the Sydney Children’s Choir premiered the performance
of three compositions based on objects on display in the
Museum as part of the Composer in Residence program.

Schecket. The Mars Lab was awarded first prize in the annual
AARNet Excellence Awards which recognises innovative
leadership and expertise.

A new stage show featuring Museum mascot Cogs
premiered in June to commemorate the centenary of the first
airmail run in Australia in the Bleriot XI monoplane which
hangs in the Transport Gallery. In April, Cogs Steam Show
toured to Steamfest in Maitland and Trainworks at Thirlmere.

Attendance in Thinkspace digital learning precinct programs
was 5,409. Programs for booked school groups, teachers,
after-school programs and school holiday programs included a
variety of creative computing topics including the Scratch,
Arduino and Python programming languages. Gaming
programs continued to be extremely popular, especially the
Minecraft100 program during the April school holidays, which
attracted 1,157 participants. A special feature was produced
for the ABC3 TV program Good Game Spawn Point.

Education program
In partnership with the Sydney Region Aboriginal Education
Program department the Museum ran the Yarn-up and Speakup! debating and public speaking programs in June. Attended
by over 100 Aboriginal students, the Yarn-Up initiative aims to
provide opportunities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
students in Years 5 and 6 to develop skills in public speaking
and debating.
The Museum hosted the Visual Arts and Design Educators
Association (VADEA) Annual Conference in July, attended by
170 primary and secondary teachers. The theme of the
conference was ‘On Track’, where the focus for the day was
on contemporaneity, creative practice and curriculum
development, with particular exhibition links to George
Nelson and Technologies that Changed our Mind. Keynote
speaker was US Art Historian Professor Terry Smith.
The Museum held its first Teachmeet in August attended by
over 90 teachers. The informal professional development
session curated by teachers for teachers focused on Maths
and the new Australian Curriculum. The format for these
events are a Pecha Kucha style of short 2–7 minute
presentations. They serve as an opportunity for teachers to
share good practice, practical ideas and personal insights into
teaching with technology.
In October in partnership with the Sydney Opera House,
Museum of Contemporary Art and the Art Gallery of NSW,
the Museum produced a keynote lecture and master class
with Anna Cutler, Director of Learning at Tate. The focus
centred on creative learning and audience engagement. The
keynote lecture was attended by over 200 educators.
The schools program has expanded to include the
development of the Industrial Revolution Trail, as a key topic
within the NSW Syllabus for the Australian Curriculum. This is
linked to The Steam Revolution exhibition and students
discover the technological innovations that led to the
Industrial Revolution and learn about the Powerhouse
Museum’s role in industrialisation.
During this time the popularity of educator-led programs
linked to permanent exhibitions continued, particularly the
character-guided tours in Space and Transport which attract
an average of 46% of primary-aged school visitors who opt
for educator-led tours. Self-guided visits, however, continued
to be the most popular visit type for school students overall.
The Mars Lab is a Mars Yard and a robotics lab which
engages high school students in the search for life on Mars
and the technologies which enable that search. A research
collaboration between the University of New South Wales
(The Australian Centre for Astrobiology), the University of
Sydney (The Australian Centre for Field Robotics), and the
Powerhouse Museum, it is funded by The Australian
Government’s Broadband Enabled Education and Skills
Services Program. In 2013–14, 1237 young people from 26
schools across NSW, Tasmania and South Australia
participated in learning experiences delivered both on site and
via video-conference technology. Additionally, young people
were able to meet and ask questions of top NASA engineers
and scientists including Charles Bolden and Jennifer
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Sydney Observatory
Education program attendance for the year was the best
result on record with 17,590 school students and teachers
participating in astronomy, weather, dreamtime astronomy,
archaeology and Einstein’s relativity education programs. On
6 March 120 teachers attended the teachers’ preview event.
Sydney Observatory launched a new public and schools
program featuring the Aboriginal Australian interpretation of
the night sky called Dreamtime Astronomy. The program is a
collaboration with the Nura Gili Indigenous Programs Unit at
the University of NSW.
Adult astronomy education courses were delivered
throughout the year in partnership with WEA and attended by
191 participants. Themes included ‘Exploring the Heavens,
Astronomical Concepts and Understanding Relativity’.
The Australian Institute of Physics held the annual Woman in
Physics 2013 Lecture at Sydney Observatory in October, with
50 of New South Wales’s leading physicists attending a
presentation by the recipient, Professor Elisabetta Barberio,
who has an international reputation for her work in
experimental particle physics, in particular for the ATLAS
experiment in the Large Hadron Collider at CERN.
In February the Director of the Hayden Planetarium at the
Smithsonian Institution’s Natural History Museum, Neil de
Grasse Tyson, visited Sydney Observatory as part of a
National Geographic ‘Cosmos’ promotion and this resulted in
a significant opportunity to market Sydney Observatory on the
popular Foxtel channel.
The Earth Hour event in late March was presented in
partnership with the City of Sydney Libraries and the affiliated
society SOLIS. A poetry competition for schools and the
general public generated a new audience.
A total lunar eclipse occurred on 15 April. The event was
attended by 120 visitors. The partial solar eclipse, which
occurred late afternoon on 29 April, was occasionally
glimpsed through cloud by 160 visitors.
A Sydney Writers’ Festival event in late May, held in
partnership with the National Trust, attracted 131 participants
to a presentation by Michael Pembroke about his book Arthur
Phillip: Governor, Sailor, Soldier Spy. A number of special
events were held in partnership with the Australian
Astronomical Observatory for astronomical conference
delegates throughout the year.
Heritage and site development
Sydney Observatory was listed on the World Heritage
UNESCO online Portal to the Heritage of Astronomy. It is only
the second site in Australia to be accepted.
Each year the Australasian Society for Historical Archaeology
(ASHA) presents awards to promote excellence and
recognise best practice in the heritage management of
historical archaeology. This year the final excavation report for

Sydney Observatory’s Fort Phillip won the Judy Birmingham
Award for the best historical archaeology consulting report by
Caitlin Allen from the Government Architects Office.

preservation work on the Ice Bird steel-hulled yacht and the
astrograph telescope being prepared to be reinstalled at
Sydney Observatory.

Museum conservators restored the historic Time Ball and
1892 Howard Grubb Astrographic Telescope. NSW Public
Works completed a major restoration of windows and
external doors of Sydney Observatory and the Signal Station.

During the year the Discovery Centre received over 30 object
donations to the Museum’s Education Collection, a vital
hands-on teaching resource that is an integral part of the
delivery of all on-site school education programs at Castle Hill.

The major development for the year was the completion of
the architectural design of the Third Dome and the
commissioning of an accessible telescope. Further progress
was made on determining the conservation methods and
collection management of the Astrographic and Sydney
Southern Star Catalogue collection. This collection includes
highly significant glass plate negatives and log books dating
back to 1892, rare solar eclipse photographs and the, as yet
uncatalogued sections of the star catalogue, which is the
basis for the Name a Star program.

CORPORATE RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

Powerhouse Discovery Centre
On-site programs at Castle Hill continued with a mix of
weekday schools and education programs as well as special
interest groups and seniors on-site collection storage tours.
Four successful open weekends were also staged with an
average of 1,300 visitors per weekend. School holiday
programs were again a popular draw card for family
audiences with a mix of hands-on craft activities, workshops
and holiday shows for younger visitors.
Highlights of the 2013–4 year included The Amazing Science
Circus 2.0 open weekend in August as part of National
Science Week 2013 and a ‘games’ themed open weekend in
March to coincide with the Games Masters exhibition at the
Powerhouse Museum. School holiday program highlights
included the continuation of our very popular Lego
construction and Lego Robotics workshops as well as a mix
of hands-on science workshops and the introduction of a
suite of new ‘create’ workshops that included mosaics,
terrariums and jewellery design.

A new department structure
A new structure for the Department was announced as part
of the Change Management Plan in May. Implementation of
the changes commenced in June, with anticipated
completion in October 2014.
The changes to corporate resources will occur in two stages
to integrate opportunities for shared arrangements with NSW
Trade & Investment and other cultural institutions. It is
envisaged that the final Corporate Resources structure will be
refined and fully recruited by December 2014.
The key changes
The Corporate Resources Department has the following teams:
•
•
•
•
•

Finance
Human Resources
Facilities and Asset Management
Governance, Planning and Reporting
Volunteer Coordination

For the duration of the Change Management Plan, the
Cultural Development unit will also be part of this Department.
Corporate Resources acts as a business enabler ensuring:
•
•

the Museum’s governance frameworks are current and
compliant
resources are allocated efficiently and transparently and
reflect the Museum’s strategic goals for experiential
delivery; and
that the workforce is equipped professionally to deliver
the goals with appropriate tools, training and development
and within a safe and supportive environment.

Schools programs were further expanded during the period
with the introduction of a new Stage 1 (Primary Years 1 and 2)
transport themed program titled Moving About: Transport then,
now and soon. Adult behind-the-scenes collection storage
tour programs were also enhanced with the development of
the Technological Triumphs tour which showcased the
interesting stories associated with technology-themed objects
in the collection stored at the Castle Hill site. School audiences
accounted for 21% of visitation for the financial year.

•

The Fizzics Discovery Science Club continued fully subscribed
throughout the year providing hands-on after school science
education for children in Years 3 to 6. With the support of the
Hills Shire Council the science club members staged a one-off
science showcase event in April as part of NSW Youth Week
2014. Titled Senses Spectacular this event provided and
opportunity for the young science club members to share
their science learning in a peer to peer environment with 60
other young budding scientists in the Hills Shire.

The People and Culture Manager role has been removed.
Employment Service Coordinator and Coordinator, HR Service
Delivery roles remain. Consideration of the Human Resources
functional team will be a significant part of the phase two
planning process for Corporate Resources.

On-site public engagement programs continued to be
delivered by the volunteer workforce assisting with all public
engagement activities. These included behind-the-scenes
collection tours, the delivery of school and education
programs and assisting with the diverse range of school
holiday programs. Volunteers also supported the Museum’s
Conservation and Registration teams with a number of
behind-the-scenes documentation and preservation projects
including the completion of the documentation of more than
100 quilts as part of the Australian AIDS Memorial Quilt
project; ongoing work transcribing the Museum’s ‘old
museum’ handwritten stock books; as well as restoration and

Facilities now includes major operational contract
management and capital projects with Workshop transferring
to Curatorial, Conservation and Exhibitions but retaining
Trades compliance oversight.

The teams and their roles
Payroll, procurement transactional functions transferred to
Finance with a full review of Payroll and Human Resources
roles to occur in the second stage of the Change
Management Plan, in the next financial year.

A Governance, Planning and Reporting team was established
to include Strategic Projects and Governance, Records,
Workplace Health and Safety, and Executive Administration
Services, plus governance of internal allocation processes.

Policy and Planning was transferred to the Governance,
Planning and Reporting team.
Change Management
The Museum restructure has been one of the most
significant reforms within its more recent history. The effort
of the Change Management team to deliver the Change
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Management Plan, coordinate the pre and post restructure
support to staff, and manage the logistics of coordinating the
complete review and rewriting of all role descriptions and
their subsequent recruitment has been enormous.

and SAP Representatives to ensure that system refinement
and developments are cognisant of the unique operational
considerations of cultural institutions within the public sector.
An extensive volunteer program

By the end of 2013–14 the Change Management team had
rewritten, reclassified and commenced filling all the
Museum’s role descriptions, whilst ensuring it met all GSE
Act compliance requirements.

440 volunteers worked with Museum staff to deliver
programs and services throughout the year. Their contribution
represented 36,901 labour hours.

Shared Storage and Access project

Specialised recruitment of volunteers for projects and
exhibitions included:

This significant project is outlined in The Year In Review section
of this year’s Report. Corporate Resources is responsible for
project management of this $33.6 million investment.

•
•

A review of governance and management of the project was
commissioned from Sinclair Knight Mertz (SKM) in August
2013. The review recommended changes to procurement and
project management, and an adjustment to the timeframe for
the project’s completion.
The new governance structure and project team delivered the
first project component of the Building ‘A’ refurbishment and
extension on time and under budget. All other aspects of the
project have met set milestones, and work is on track to
deliver the completed project in the first half of the 2015–16
financial year, as planned.
Shigeru Ban designed shade structures
In 2010 the Board of Trustees approved funds for the
installation of a number of canopy structures, designed by the
Japanese architect Shigeru Ban. The project required unique
material and engineering solutions. As a consequence original
cost estimates were amended resulting in a reduction of the
proposed installation from eight to five.
At its September 2013 meeting, the Board of Trustees agreed
to defer the project, noting that design documentation had
been completed.
Work Health and Safety Gap Analysis
In December TTRMS Pty Ltd was engaged to conduct a Gap
Analysis of the Museum’s WHS systems. The GAP Analysis
was undertaken to assess the existing safety systems and to
identify any gaps.
Following receipt of the Report the Museum reviewed and
updated WHS policies and procedures, developed new
policies as recommended in the audit, updated the Museum’s
safety management system and associated documentation
and WHS training. Integration of all WHS into the MAAS
Intranet commenced.
Development and delivery of a WHS training program was a
key recommendation of the Review, and will be implemented
from November 2014.
SAP ByDesign
The Museum implemented a full replacement of its ERP
systems to integrate with its Principal Agency, NSW Trade &
Investment in October 2013. The implementation included
the implementation of SAP ECC Payroll and SAP ByDesign
Finance modules. The transition was for the most part
seamless and testament to the amount of time and effort
invested by key Corporate Resources staff to ensure that
MAAS experienced minimal disruption.
The system has presented some challenges to reporting
capacity and transactional change, particularly the
implementation of on line time sheets for all staff, excluding
casuals who will be integrated in the 2014–15 financial year.
The Museum continues to participate in regular ERP Steering
Committees with the NSW Trade & Investment Executive
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

43 volunteers assisted with Ultimo Science Festival
25 behind the scenes volunteers assisted in research,
conservation and documentation
11 long term visitor services volunteers
16 youth holiday program volunteers assisted the events
and public programs
40 volunteers assisted in the Game Masters exhibition
21 volunteers assisted in The Oopsatoreum exhibition
28 Observatory event volunteers assisted with events
and public programs
15 volunteers assisted Steam Conservation and
operations of the locomotives
12 volunteers assisted with the Minecraft program

The Museum was awarded a NSW Heritage Grant of $38,000
for the volunteer project: Connecting the Community, the
MAAS Steam Heritage Outreach Program, celebrating steam
industrial heritage by storytelling and object interpretation, an
interactive multimedia experience and volunteer training
program for seniors.
DEVELOPMENT AND EXTERNAL AFFAIRS DEPARTMENT
A new structure for the Department was announced as part
of the Change Management Plan in May. Implementation of
the changes commenced in June, with anticipated
completion in October 2014.
The Development and External Affairs Department is
responsible for reputation management, external relationships
and development activities. Over the next five years MAAS will
undertake a significant fundraising program. The Development
and External Affairs Team will ensure the Museum achieves
fundraising targets and stakeholder support. The Team will
deliver a new focus on multiplatform marketing, reputation
management and significant audience growth.
The new department structure
A new Development and External Affairs team was created to
integrate development, stakeholder management, marketing
and communications. A senior Development and External
Affairs specialist will head this team.
The position of Marketing Manager was removed and traditional
marketing replaced with multiplatform marketing services.
The Policy and Planning function is to move to the Project,
Policy and Governance Team in the Corporate Resources
Department. The Administrative function is to move to the
Project, Policy and Governance Team in the Corporate
Resources Department. At 30 June 2014 the position of
Director, Development and External Affairs had been
advertised, but an appointment not yet made.
The Policy and Planning Team contributed to the City of
Sydney’s cultural policy discussion paper, and the submission
was extensively referenced in the Creative Sydney policy
when published by the City in April 2014. The team also
contributed to Arts NSW Framing the Future discussion paper
as part of consultation for the development of an Arts and
Culture policy for NSW.

ON-SITE EXHIBITIONS AND DISPLAYS
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM: TEMPORARY EXHIBITIONS
George Nelson: Architect, Writer, Designer, Teacher
2 August – 7 November 2013
A comprehensive retrospective of the work of influential
American designer, George Nelson (1908–86). Nelson created
classics of modern furniture and interior design but was also a
prominent author, editor, lecturer and exhibition designer, and
a passionate photographer.
An exhibition from the Vitra Design Museum, Germany.
3x3x3 Designer Installation — a part of Sydney Design 2013
3 August 2013 – 30 August 2013
Collaborating with socially responsible designers to solve
some of society’s most pressing problems, the display
featured the solutions of three design teams in a 3 x 3 x 3
metre space to address health, safety and urban living.
Australian International Design Awards 2013
2 August 2013 – 11 August 2014
Each year the Powerhouse selection from the Australian
International Design Awards features outstanding
achievements in design and innovation. The selection showed
how design impacts on every aspect of our lives.
Supported by Australian International Design Awards, a
division of Standards Australia.
Seven Australian Designers
Opened 2 August 2013 as part of Sydney Design 2013
Presented in conjunction with the George Nelson exhibition, this
small display profiled some of the people who brought modern
design to Australian living. It featured the work of Gordon
Andrews, Alistair Morrison, Grant Featherston, Steven Kalmar,
Clement Meadmore, Douglas Snelling and Roger McLay.
The Beatles in Australia
21 September 2013 – 16 February 2014
Developed by the Powerhouse Museum and Arts Centre
Melbourne to celebrate the 50th anniversary of The Beatles
tour, the exhibition explored the tour’s lasting impact on
Australian music and popular culture.
Playing with Light
14 September 2013 – 9 February 2014
This exhibition engaged visitors with stimulating light and
visualisation experiences.
A travelling exhibition from Scitech, Perth.
Clothes Encounters
26 October 2013 – ongoing
This exhibition featured 10 clothes encounters — stories
exploring the clothing worn or created by a diverse range of
Australians, from different eras and walks of life, in response
to significant political, creative and social encounters in their
lives. From the Powerhouse Museum collection.
The Oopsatoreum: Inventions of Henry A. Mintox
2 November 2013 – 6 October 2014
Shaun Tan’s collaboration with the Powerhouse Museum was
the fictional tale of a strikingly original but spectacularly
unsuccessful inventor, Henry A. Mintox. Whimsical stories of
Mintox’s failed inventions were inspired by strange and largely
obscure objects from the Powerhouse Museum collection.
Game Masters: the Exhibition
13 December 2013 – 13 July 2014
Featuring over 100 playable games, the interactive exhibition
celebrated the work of the world's most influential
videogame designers and showcased some of the most
ground breaking games ever made across arcades, consoles,
PC and mobile platforms.
A travelling exhibition from ACMI Melbourne.

Engineering Excellence
6 February 2013 – ongoing
An annual exhibition that showcases a selection of outstanding
engineering projects from the Sydney Division of Engineers
Australia awards program. Featured were innovative engineering
solutions in areas such as education, energy and transport.
Presented in association with Engineers Australia, Sydney
Division.
DesignTECH 2013
22 February – 11 May 2014
An annual exhibition that showcased outstanding major
design projects by Higher School Certificate students of
Design and Technology.
Presented in association with the Office of the Board of Studies
NSW and the NSW Department of Education and Training.
Student Fashion 2013
22 March 2014 – ongoing
Student fashion provided a glimpse of the next generation of
Australian fashion designers. The annual exhibition showcased
outfits and textiles from the final year ranges of the topgraduating students from Sydney-based fashion schools.
The Strictly Ballroom Story
5 April – ongoing
The exhibition celebrates the splendour of the stage and
screen musical and tells the Strictly Ballroom story through
design drawings, cast and set photos, performance and
rehearsal clips. A highlight is 40 original costumes created by
four time Oscar winner Catherine Martin.
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM: DISPLAYS
Designer Suburbs
5 August 2013 – 22 September 2013
A selection of photographs from the award winning book of
the same title.
Sydney Opera House
28 September 2013 – 17 August 2014
A selection of objects and photographs to mark the 40th
anniversary of the Opera House opening.
Zagora
22 October – ongoing
A selection of objects relating to the ongoing Zagora
Archaeological Project on the Greek island of Andros.
Australian travel posters
11 November 2013 – ongoing
Sebel chairs
14 March 2014 – ongoing
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM: PERMANENT EXHIBITIONS
EcoLogic
13 September 2013 — minor section replacement
SYDNEY OBSERVATORY
Winning Sky Photos: The David Malin Awards 2013
17 August – 20 October 2013
This annual travelling exhibition featured 24 of the best
photographs in amateur astrophotography as judged by
astronomer Dr David Malin.
A travelling exhibition developed by the Central West
Astronomical Society (Parkes NSW) and supported by Canon
Australia, CSIRO and the Powerhouse Museum.
POWERHOUSE DISCOVERY CENTRE
Australian Innovations
15 June 2013 — ongoing
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MUSEUM OUTREACH
The Powerhouse Museum has a dedicated position responsible
for the development and delivery of programs to regional NSW.
Through exhibitions, lectures, workshops, site visits,
internships, collection loans and collaborations, the skill,
scholarship and collection of the Museum are made available
through actual contact, which is further augmented by the
online resources available.
The Museum’s reach across the city, the state and the nation,
as well as internationally, is profiled in the following text and
maps of locations where outreach activities have occurred.
In 2013–14:
8 offsite exhibitions at 15 locations attracted 457,982 visitors.
Exhibitions were shown in regional NSW at:
Museum of the Riverina, Wagga Wagga
Albury Library Museum, Albury
Parkes Shire Library, Parkes
Liverpool Regional Museum, Liverpool
Wollongong Science Centre and Planetarium, Wollongong
214 Regional Services events including short term displays,
talks, workshops, site visits, programs and consultations,
engaged 57 organisations from 44 regional NSW locations
and 13 Western Sydney organisations.
Regional Services activities off-site programs attracted and
engaged 14,289 participants including Western Sydney
programs.
441 collection objects were on loan in Sydney, across NSW,
interstate and overseas. 8 of 34 new loans were to regional
NSW and Western Sydney organisations displaying 79
collection objects and supporting material in these areas.
Institutions displaying Powerhouse Museum collection
objects during this period included:
Amalgamated Wireless Australasia Veterans Association Inc.,
Seaforth, New South Wales
Ararat Regional Art Gallery, Victoria
Art Gallery of Ballarat, Victoria
Art Gallery of South Australia, Adelaide
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Australian Cinematographers Society, North Sydney
Australian National Maritime Museum, Sydney
Blue Mountains Cultural Centre
Canterbury City Council, Campsie
City of Sydney Council
Dangar Island Historical Society, Dangar Island
Flinders University Art Museums & City Gallery, Adelaide,
South Australia
Henry Kendall Cottage & Historical Museum, West Gosford
Hunter Valley Steamfest, Maitland
Hurstville City Library Museum & Gallery
Museum of Glass, Tacoma WA, United States of America
National Gallery of Victoria, Melbourne, Victoria
National Library of Australia, Canberra
National Museum of Australia, Canberra
Macleay Museum, University of Sydney Museums
Manly Art Gallery and Museum
Monash Gallery of Art, Wheelers Hill, Victoria
Museum of Australian Democracy at Eureka, Canberra
Museum Victoria, Melbourne, Victoria
NSW Health, Sydney
Office of Communities NSW, Sydney
Penrith Regional Gallery
The King’s School, North Parramatta
The National Trust of Australia (NSW Branch)
Sancta Sophia College, Camperdown
Sydney Living Museums
University of New South Wales, Sydney
Uralla Historical Society Inc.
There were 86 off site talks, lectures and presentations by
staff and volunteers delivered to over 4,990 people, of which
83 talks were in Sydney and across NSW.
In Australia staff and volunteers spoke to community and
special interest groups, at schools and at conferences
including the Museums Australia National Conference 2014,
Maitland Steamfest, Albury ‘Keeping it Real’ Conference and
various regular Video Conferencing programs developed by
the Museum for schools.
Internationally, Museum staff spoke at conferences including
the American Alliance of Museums conference in Seattle,
International Astronautical Congress, Beijing, China, and the
International Space University, Strasburg, France.
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STAFF SCHOLARSHIP AND ENGAGEMENT
STAFF PROFESSIONAL COMMITMENTS
Adams, M. Member Australian Institute of Project
Management
Anderson, M. Committee member, External Advisory Board
UWS Penrith Observatory; Public Officer, Sydney Sky Theatre
(Planetarium) Development Association
Biddle, K. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee, EMu
Users Forum
Blades, F. Affiliate member, Design Institute of Australia
Boleyn, T. Member, Australian Science Communicators
Bower, R. Area chair, Popular Culture Association of Australia
and New Zealand
Bray, P. Director, cultural and community bodies, Australian
Digital Alliance
Brennan, A. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Collins, D. Advisory Board, NSW Public Sector Community of
ICT Professionals
Connell. M. Member, University of NSW Faculty of Science
Advisory Council; Science and Technology Education
Network; Editorial Board, The Rutherford Journal: The New
Zealand Journal for the History and Philosophy of Science and
Technology; Associate, Creative and Cognition Studios
University of Technology, Sydney
Coombes, J. Member, Executive Board ICOM Australia;
Editorial Committee, COMCOL; International Council of
Museums; Australasian Registrars Committee
Cox, P. Member, Performing Arts Heritage Network
Crook, M. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Czernis-Ryl, E. Expert Examiner for the National Cultural
Heritage Committee, Office for the Arts, Department of
Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra; Honorary Member,
Silver Society of Australia; Member, Glass Art Society (USA);
Society of North American Goldsmiths (USA)
Dalla, L. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Docker, E. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee;
Randwick and District Historical Society
Donnelly, P. Affiliate staff member, Department of
Archaeology, University of Sydney; Committee Member,
Australiana Society; Institutional representative, Council of the
Australian Archaeological Institute at Athens (University of
Sydney); Council Member, Near Eastern Archaeology
Foundation (University of Sydney); Member, American School
of Oriental Research.
Dougherty, K. Member, International Academy of
Astronautics; History of Astronautics Committee, International
Academy of Astronautics; Space Education and Outreach
Committee, International Astronautically Federation; Space
Societies and Museums Committee, International
Astronautically Federation; Faculty member, Space
Humanities Department, Space Studies Program and
Southern Hemisphere Summer Space Program, International
Space University; Executive Committee member, Space
Week International Association; National Space Society of
Australia
Eswaran, M. Committee Member, Public Sector Risk
Management Association
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Gatenby, S. Committee Member, NSW Cultural Institutions
Collection Disaster Response Committee; Coordinator,
Australian Institute for the Conservation of Cultural Materials
(AICCM), Mould Remediation working group; Professional
Member, Australian Institute for the Conservation of Cultural
Material; Delegated member, International Council of
Museums, Conservation Committee
Gordon-Gillespie, A. Member, Interpretation Australia;
International Museum Theatre Alliance — Asia Pacific;
Museums Australia Education Group; Young People and the
Arts Australia
Hiscock, R. Board Member, Back to Back Theatre; Chunky
Move
Hogan, K. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Hulbert, M. Associate Member, Astronomical Society of
Australia; Member, Sutherland Astronomical Society;
Astronomical Society of NSW; Society of Australian
Genealogists; Instructor, Swinburne University Astronomy
Online courses
Jacob, A. Member, Astronomical Society of Australia;
Treasurer, Education and Public Outreach Chapter,
Astronomical Society of Australia; Tutor and night viewing
coordinator, Astronomy Course, University of Sydney
Jacob, V. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Jones, G. Judge, Australian Fashion Laureate; Betta Milk
Burnie Wearable Paper Art Competition
Kim, M-J. Committee member, The Asian Arts Society of
Australia; The Korean Cultural Office, Australia
Kreuiter, A. Founding Member, Association of Science
Communicators; Member. American Association for
Computers in Education
Lea, M. Member, International Committee for Musical
Instrument Museums and Collections; Expert Examiner,
Moveable Cultural Heritage Unit, Canberra; Member,
Musicological Society of Australia
Lomb, N. Member, Sydney Outdoor Lighting Improvement
Society; Australian Institute of Physics; Astronomical Society
of Victoria; International Dark-Sky Association; British
Astronomical Association; International Astronomical Union;
Australian Science Communicators; Australian Planetarium
Society; Editorial Board, Royal Society of NSW; Fellow,
Astronomical Society of Australia; Life member, Sydney City
Skywatchers; Adjunct Professor, University of Southern
Queensland
Lucas, A. Member, China Studies Centre, University of
Sydney; Australian Institute of Maritime Archaeology; IndoPacific Prehistory Association; Japan Foundation; Asian
Studies Association of Australia; The Japanese Studies
Association of Australia, Australasian Registrars Committee;
Web Committee Member and Social Media Coordinator, The
Asian Arts Society of Australia
McEwen, S. Member, Australian Science Communicators;
Australian Association for Environmental Education;
Australasian College of Medical Sciences and Research;
Australian Conservation Foundation
McLean, J. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Merrillees, D. Board Member, San Art, Ho Chi Minh City
Vietnam; Drummond Street Services, Melbourne
Morton, P. Member, The Goods Line (Ultimo Pedestrian
Network) Project Management Group; City of Sydney, City
Farm Advisory Group

Nicholson, H. Museum representative Accessing the Arts
Group; City of Sydney, City Farm Advisory Group; NSW
National Archaeology Week committee member; Society of
Mediterranean Archaeology committee and life member;
Member, Museums Australia Education Group; NSW History
Teachers Association; Australian Archaeological Association;
Australasian Society of Historical Archaeology; Royal
Australian Historical Society
Palmer, B. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Parry, M. Chair, Humanities Network Infrastructure Steering
Committee; Member, Australian Institute of Company
Directors
Pitkin, M. Team member, British archaeological mission to Tell
el-Amarna, Egypt; Tour Leader, ‘Egypt: From Alexandria to
Abu Simbel’, Alumni Travel; Member, Oceanic Arts Society
Pointon, S. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee
Rockell, D. Expert examiner, movable cultural heritage
Rogers, A. Member, Institute of Public Accountants
Rudder, D. Member, Australian Academy of Technological
Sciences and Engineering, Powerhouse Museum Liaison
Committee; Member, Australian Science Communicators
Smith, A. Member of Astronomical Society of NSW (ASNSW);
Western Sydney Amateur Astronomy Group (WSAAG)
Snelling, C. Member, Sydney Hills Business Chamber
Stevenson, T. Vice President, Sydney City Skywatchers (NSW
Branch of the British Astronomical Association); Member,
Sydney Outdoor Lighting Improvement Association;
Museums Australia; Rocks Chamber of Commerce; Australian
Planetarium Society; Affiliated Member, Astronomical Society
of Australia
Stratford, E. Advisory Member, NSW Public Sector
Community of Finance Professionals, Public Sector
Commission Workforce Finance Capabilities Project Group;
Fellow Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants;
Graduate Australian Institute of Company Directors; Institute
of Public Administration Australia
Turnbull, A. Member, NSW Centenary of ANZAC
Commemoration Program Inter Departmental Committee
Van de Ven, A-M. Judge, Head On Portrait Prize, Head On
Photo Festival, Sydney
Van Tiel, M. Secretary and Treasurer, International Museum
Theatre Alliance — Asia Pacific; Committee Member, Sydney
Environmental Educators Network; Museum representative,
Young People and the Arts Australia (YPAA); Accessing the
Arts Group (ATAG), Member, Australian Science
Communicators; Interpretation Australia
Vaughan, D. Member curatorium, The Cross Art Projects;
Artspace
Vytrhlik, J Member, Silver Society of Australia; Accredited
Member, Czech Examiner Panel for National Accreditation
Authority for Translators and Interpreters
Ward, L. Member, International Bobbin and Needle Lace
Organisation
Wilson, P. Member, Australian Society of Archivists
Wyatt, G. Member Australian Planetarium Association;
International Planetarium Society; Science Teachers
Association of NSW; Astronomical Society of NSW; Associate
member, Astronomical Society of Australia

STAFF LECTURES AND PRESENTATIONS OFF SITE
Balmer, N., Powerhouse Museum Storage, Museum and
Heritage Studies, University of Sydney, Sydney
Bray, P, Digital Environment and Communications, a case
study, Akolade Digital Marketing Forum, Sydney; Creating
Digital Media in Museums: how this is changing?, Intersect,
Sydney, Sydney; History week: from glass plate to
Cyberspace, Australian National Maritime Museum, Sydney
Czernis-Ryl, E., Exhibition opening address for
Transplantation: a sense of place and culture and Meraki,
2013 Graduate Exhibition, Charles Sturt University, Wagga
Wagga; Exhibition opening address for Arcanum, Design
Centre Enmore, Enmore
Dougherty, K., Space and Society, Southern Hemisphere
Summer Space Program-International Space University,
Adelaide-Mawson Lakes, South Australia; Presenting Space
History and Heritage, Southern Hemisphere Summer Space
Program-International Space University, Adelaide-Mawson
Lakes, South Australia; Exploring Mars, French's Forest
Rotary Club, Forestville; Fifty years of Exploring Mars, U3A
Warriewood, Warriewood, Spaceport Australia: early
equatorial spaceport proposals , Australian Centre for
Astrobiology, UNSW, Kensington; Space and Society:
cosmos, culture and artefact, UTS Visual Arts-animation
course, Ultimo; Pathways to Space: ASRP Project Review',
Australian Space Science Conference, UNSW, Kensington;
Before Woomera: Australia’s Early Rocketeers', Australian
Space Science Conference, UNSW, Kensington; Myths about
Aliens', Tutorials for 3rd Year Astrobiology students, UNSW,
Kensington; Spaceport Australia: early proposals for equatorial
launch facilities in Australia, International Astronautical
Congress, Beijing, China; Affiliated Societies and Space
Museums: 25 years of experience at the Powerhouse
Museum, International Astronautical Congress, Beijing, China;
Pathways to Space: a mission to foster the next generation of
scientists and engineers, International Astronautical
Congress, Beijing, China; ASRP Review: Pathways to Space,
Australian Space Development Conference, Adelaide, South
Australia; 'The Sky is Falling: the cultural impact of meteors,
comets and asteroids' , Department of Space Humanities,
International Space University, Strasbourg, France (delivered
via WebEx link) , Strasbourg, France; Presenting Space
History and Heritage, Southern Hemisphere Summer Space
Program-International Space University, Adelaide-Mawson
Lakes, South Australia
Gatenby, S., Conservation of 1950’s black and white
photographs affected by cellulose acetate off gassing and
adhered by rubber cement, The 8th AICCM book, paper and
photographic materials symposium, Art Gallery of NSW,
Sydney
Hiscock, R., Guest Speaker, 2014 REMIX Sydney Summit,
The Future of Partnerships Panel, Carriageworks, Sydney;
Guest Speaker, The Australian Centre for Contemporary Art,
Future Forum, I don't know much about art, but I know what I
like, The Australian Centre for Contemporary Art, Melbourne,
Victoria; Guest Speaker, Advanced Arts Management
students, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria;
Keynote Presentation, Living Museums: Linking with
Community, Museums Australia National Conference
Launceston, Queen Victoria Museum and Gallery,
Launceston, Tasmania; Research Symposium, Keynote
speaker, UTS Faculty of Design, Architecture and Building,
Ultimo; Guest Speaker, The Future Laboratory 2014
Australian Network, LS:N Global Network, Sydney; Guest
Speaker — Panel discussion Cultural Tourism: Making the
Map, Sydney Arts Management Advisory Group, Sydney
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Jones, G, Present judges’ decision and prizes for Paper on
Skin, Burnie Betta Milk Wearable Paper Art competition 2014,
Burnie Regional Art Gallery, Burnie, Tasmania; Faith, fashion,
fusion:Muslim women's style in Australia, Northbridge
Combined Probus Club, Northbridge; The Faith, fashion,
fusion exhibition and the business of modest fashion',
Community Relations Commission Multicultural Marketing
Conference, Sydney; Two floor talks on Frock Stars: Inside
Australian fashion week, Western Australian Museum, Perth,
Western Australia; The history of Australian Fashion Week,
Museum of Tropical North Queensland, Townsville,
Queensland; Fashion and dress at the Museum of Applied
Arts and Sciences, UTS Bachelor of design, animation
students, Ultimo; Faith, fashion, fusion exhibition and the
modest fashion industry, World Hijab Day and SalamCare, Pitt
Street Mall, Sydney
Kim, M-J, Stories of the Zodiac: Exploring the 12 Animal Signs
in Asian Culture, Hurstville Museum and Gallery, Hurstville
Kingsley, I., Browne, C. and Oliver, J., Project Mars (4
sessions), St George Girls High School, St George

Turner, J., Using the performance development program to
further embed a customer service ethos across the MAAS,
Trade and Investment Customer Service Advisory Committee,
Sydney
Ward, L., Love Lace exhibition, Macquarie Textile Network,
Camden
Whitty, H., Dating literacy: a new relationship for museums,
American Alliance of Museums Annual Meeting & Museum
Expo, Seattle, USA
Wyatt, G., Dreamtime Astronomy, Australasian Planetarium
Society, Scienceworks, Melbourne, Victoria
Regional Talks and Lectures
Boesel, R., Steam locomotive maintenance, Steamfest,
Maitland
Chidlow, K., Australian Dress Register Workshop, Dungog
Historical Society, Dungog; Chidlow, K. Pointon, S. Consultant
volunteer Justine Malinowski, Introduction to the Australian
Dress Register, Murrurundi Historical Society, Murrurundi

Lomb, N., Light pollution or who stole the night, Swinburne
University of Technology, Hawthorn, Melbourne, Victoria;
Sydney and other observatories, Melbourne Observatory
150th anniversary: seminar on Australian Colonial Astronomy,
Melbourne, Victoria

Docker, E., Agriculture display talk, Steamfest, Maitland;
Introduction to the Australian Dress Register, Braidwood
Museum, Braidwood; Australian Dress Register, Sisters of
Mercy, Singleton

McDonald, D., Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Health
and Medicine collection, Australian & New Zealand Society of
the History of Medicine, New South Wales Inc conference
Surviving in difficult times: health and medicine museums in
NSW, University of Sydney, Sydney

Fowler, J., The penny farthing, a rider's perspective,
Steamfest, Maitland

Morton P. (with Ridge, A.), Growing Community and Culture,
Dynamic Cities conference, Mandurah, Western Australia
Parry, M., Getting Digital Done: effectively connecting
museums and communities, Museums Australia Conference
2014, Launceston, Tasmania
Pickett, C, Designer Suburbs, UTS Architecture Masters
students, Ultimo; Monterey Moderne (and walking tour),
Rockdale City Council, Monterey
Pitkin, M, A new look on the First Intermediate Period
through the dating of false doors and stelae, 65th Annual
Conference of the American Research Center in Egypt,
Portland, Oregon, USA,; A new look on the First Intermediate
Period through the dating of false doors and stelae, University
Students for Egyptological Research (USER), Macquarie
University, North Ryde; Pacific body ornament and the
Museum’s upcoming Jewellery exhibition, Oceanic Art
Society, Australian Museum, Sydney
Snelling, C., Community Partnerships with Western Sydney
Institute of TAFE (Castle Hill and Baulkham Hills campuses),
Sydney Hills Chamber of Commerce Business After 5 event,
Baulkham Hills
Stevenson, T., The Year of Eclipses, Seaforth Primary School,
Seaforth; Through the Finderscope: the first Women
Astronomers in Australia, Women's College, The University of
Sydney, Sydney; Bound by Science: the connections between
Riverview College Observatory and Sydney Observatory,
Northern Sydney Astronomical Society, St Ignatius College,
Riverview, Lane Cove; Stevenson, T., Astronomical women:
star measurers and computers at Adelaide and Melbourne
Observatories from 1890 to 1920, 150th anniversary of
Melbourne Observatory: colonial astronomy seminar,
Melbourne, Victoria
Turnbull, A., Living in a Sensory World tour and talk. Noosa
Regional Gallery, Noosa, Queensland
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Dougherty, K., John Glenn and the Mercury Program,
Newcastle Space Frontier Society, Newcastle

McKillop, D., Looking after your memorabilia, Museum of the
Riverina, Wagga Wagga
Merrillees, D., Opening speech, Steamfest, Maitland
Morris, T. How to care for your photo albums, Steamfest,
Maitland
Nicholson, H., Ancient Egypt Day: science and maths focus,
Department of Education Southern Highlands Region, Gifted
and Talented Student Program, Bowral Public School, Bowral
Pinchin, R., Introduction and workshop on the Australian
Dress Register, Australian Museum of Clothing and Textiles,
Maitland; ADR Workshop , Grossman House, Maitland
Simpson, E. (intern), Rail Tales — storytelling, Steamfest,
Maitland; Mystery Object, Steamfest, Maitland
Ward, C., Presentation on care of old machinery, McCrossin's
Mill Museum, Uralla
Ward, L., Australian Dress Register, Newcastle Regional
Gallery, Newcastle; Australian Dress Register workshop and
presentation, History South Australia Seminar, Adelaide,
South Australia; Ward, L. & Pinchin, R., Australian Dress
Register, Pioneer Womens’ Hut, Tumbarumba; Ward, L. and
Pointon, S., Australian Dress Register Seminar and workshop,
Museum and Gallery Services Queensland / State Library of
Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland
Wyatt, G, Sydney observatory and the very weird weird
Universe, Albury Library, Albury; Sydney Observatory,
engaging regional audiences and adult education, Keeping it
Real Conference, Albury Convention Centre, Albury
Yioupros, N. and Chidlow, K., How to photograph museum
objects, The Wollondilly Heritage Centre, The Oaks

FINANCES: THE YEAR IN REVIEW
The Museum reported on a two entity basis for 2013–14,
following the implementation of the GSE Act 2013, which
took effect 24 February 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts
and Sciences Staff Agency was created on 24 February 2014.

Sources of Funding For Operating Activities
Government Grants and Recoveries

61.5%

Self-Generated Commercial Revenue

25.7%

Sponsorships Grants and Donations

11.8%

Investment Income

The 2013–14 financial year was difficult due to significant
pressure arising from the restructure and the requirement to
recognise voluntary redundancies expenses. Offsetting this
were capital funds payments which did not coincide with
project cash flows.

Other Income

Whilst total Government contributions were higher than
2012–13 this was due to the receipt of capital funding, with
recurrent funding actually decreasing to $27,838,000, from
$27,998,000 the previous year.

Members Organisation

The Museum received $11,840,000 in Capital to advance the
Shared Collection Storage and Access project for Cultural
Institutions in Castle Hill. Advice to defer receipt until 2014–
15 was not acted upon until late April, by which time the
Museum had received the funds. This is the third year in a
four-year $35,000,000 project.
Total employee-related and personnel services expenses
were $35,326,000, 36.5% higher than the previous year,
driven by the recognition of redundancy costs estimated at
$7,119,000.
Depreciation and amortisation decreased by $455,000 (8%) in
comparison to 2012–13, driven by medium-term exhibitions
reaching the end of their useful life.
The overall surplus of $3,556,000 is an increase of $3,522,000
over the previous year result, driven by higher levels of
government capital funding ($9,886,000) and offset by the
recognised cost of redundancies $7,119,000.
Total cash balances reflect initial delays in construction on the
Shared Collection Storage and Access Project at Castle Hill.
These funds will be expended during 2014–15.

0.6%
0.4%
100.0%

Commercial Revenue Sources
Admissions

81.7%
4.0%

Leased Operations

1.4%

Venue Hire and Catering

1.6%

Staff Sevices

1.6%

Shop and Publication Sales

9.7%
100.0%

Operating Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Marketing

77.3%
1.6%

Exhibition Construction & Hire

3.4%

Maintenance

2.6%

Facilities Management

6.8%

Commercial Activities

1.5%

Collection and Asset Management

0.8%

Information Technology

1.3%

Collection Interpretation and Services

2.8%

Corporate Services

1.2%

Training

0.2%

Other

0.6%
100.0%

Investments held in the TCorp Long Term Growth Fund
earned an indicative rate of return of 13.5% compared with
20.6% in 2012–13.
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FINANCIAL REPORT
STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C(1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983
Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees of the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:
(a)

the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit
Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010, the Treasurer's Directions and relevant
Australian Accounting Standards;

(b)

the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2014 and the
results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c)

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading or
inaccurate.

J. SHINE
PRESIDENT
Date: 16 September 2014
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R. HISCOCK
DIRECTOR

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

Economic Entity
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Parent

Notes

Actual
2014
$’000

Budget
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Actual
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Personnel services

2(a)

17,796

25,873

28,929

35,325

28,929

Employee related

2(b)

17,530

-

-

-

-

Other operating expenses

2(c)

10,367

13,986

10,960

10,367

10,960

Depreciation and amortisation

2(d)

Expenses excluding losses
Operating expenses

TOTAL EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

4,946

5,250

5,401

4,946

5,401

50,638

45,109

45,290

50,638

45,290

5,396

6,153

5,284

5,396

5,284

Revenue
Sale of goods and services

3(a)

Investment revenue

3(b)

589

490

793

589

793

Grants and contributions

3(c)

46,955

52,159

38,798

47,873

38,798

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits
and other liabilities

3(d)

918

-

-

-

-

Other revenue

3(e)

306

359

461

306

461

54,164

59,161

45,336

54,164

45,336

30

208

(12)

30

(12)

3,556

14,260

34

3,556

34

-

-

-

-

-

3,556

14,260

34

3,556

34

Total Revenue
Gain / (loss) on disposal

4

Net result
Other comprehensive income for the year
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

Economic Entity
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2014

Parent

Notes

Actual
2014
$’000

Budget
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Actual
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

5

12,138

5,526

5,281

12,138

5,281

Receivables

6

845

1,235

1,462

845

1,462

12,983

6,761

6,743

12,983

6,743

ASSETS
Current Assets

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Financial assets at fair value

7

4,009

2,346

2,122

4,009

2,122

Investments accounted for using the equity method

8

127

127

127

127

127

Property, plant and equipment

10
153,825

167,530

153,477

153,825

153,477

4,854

3,486

5,526

4,854

5,526

Collection

402,631

402,262

399,824

402,631

399,824

Total Property, plant and equipment

561,310

573,278

558,827

561,310

558,827

Total Non-Current Assets

565,446

575,751

561,076

565,446

561,076

Total Assets

578,429

582,512

567,819

578,429

567,819

3,061

2,830

3,061

Land and buildings
Plant and equipment

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

12

2,830

2,945

Provisions

13

10,205

3,078

2,927

10,205

2,927

13,035

6,023

5,988

13,035

5,988

50

51

45

50

45

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

13

50

-

45

50

45

13,086

6,074

6,033

13,086

6,033

565,342

576,438

561,786

565,342

561,786

Reserves

159,154

159,154

159,154

159,154

159,154

Accumulated funds

406,188

417,284

402,632

406,188

402,632

Total Equity

565,342

576,438

561,786

565,342

561,786

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Total

Asset
Revaluation
Surplus

Accumulated
Funds

Parent

Total

Notes

Asset
Revaluation
Surplus

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Accumulated
Funds

Economic Entity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

402,632

159,154

561,786

402,632

159,154

561,786

3,556

-

3,556

3,556

-

3,556

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,556

-

3,556

3,556

-

3,556

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance as at 30 June 2014

406,188

159,154

565,342

406,188

159,154

565,342

Balance as at 1 July 2012

402,598

159,154

561,752

402,598

159,154

561,752

34

-

34

34

-

34

Balance as at 1 July 2013
Net result for the year
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners
Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity
transfers

Net result for the year
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance as at 30 June 2013

14

-

-

-

-

-

-

34

-

34

34

-

34

402,632

159,154

561,786

402,632

159,154

561,786
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Economic Entity
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Notes

Actual
2014
$’000

Parent

Budget
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Actual
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Personnel services

(17,796)

-

(29,493)

(27,862)

(29,493)

Employee related

(10,066)

-

-

-

-

Other

(12,157)

(37,755)

(14,981)

(12,157)

(14,981)

Total Payments

(40,019)

(37,755)

(44,474)

(40,019)

(44,474)

5,967

6,152

4,744

5,967

4,744

599

240

769

599

769

43,917

46,275

37,844

43,917

37,844

3,454

3,240

4,798

3,454

4,798

53,937

55,907

48,155

53,937

48,155

13,918

18,152

3,681

13,918

3,681

74

268

57

74

57

Purchases of land and buildings, plant and equipment

(5,280)

(18,525)

(5,594)

(5,280)

(5,594)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(5,206)

(18,257)

(5,537)

(5,206)

(5,537)

8,713

(105)

(1,856)

8,713

(1,856)

7,323

5,631

9,179

7,323

9,179

16,036

5,526

7,323

16,036

7,323

Receipts
Sale of goods and services
Interest received
Grants and contributions
Other
Total Receipts
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

16

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of land and buildings, plant and
equipment

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH
Opening cash and cash equivalents
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

5

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2014

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Reporting Entity
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) is a NSW government entity. The Museum is a not-for-profit entity
(as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units. The reporting entity is consolidated as part of the
NSW Total State Sector Accounts.
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, as a reporting entity comprises all the entities under its control, namely: the
Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney Observatory, the Powerhouse Discovery Centre, the Migration Heritage Centre and the
Powerhouse Foundation (all comprising the parent entity), and the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency.
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the NSW Department of Trade and
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services established, on 24 February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements
Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s objective is to provide personnel services to the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.
In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and
controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.
These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 16 September
2014.
(b) Basis of Preparation
The Museum’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with:
•
•
•

applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010 and
the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government Sector
Entities or issued by the Treasurer.

Property, plant and equipment, collection assets and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured at fair
value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial
statements.
All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.
(c)

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting
Interpretations.

(d) Insurance
The Museum’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for
Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.
(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:
•
•

the amount of GST incurred by the entity as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO)
is recognised as part of the cost of an assets’ cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense and
receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as
operating cash flows.
(f)

Income Recognition
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional comments
regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.
i.

Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Museum transfers the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the assets.

ii.

Rendering of Services
Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours
incurred to date).

iii.

Investment and Other Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. Rental revenue from operating leases is recognised in accordance with AASB 117
Leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Royalty and copyright revenue is recognised in accordance with
AASB 118 Revenue on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. TCorp Hour Glass
distributions and dividend revenue are recognised in accordance with AASB 118 when the Museum’s right to receive
payment is established.
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iv.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2014

Grants and Contributions
Grants and contributions include donations, and grants from NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional
Infrastructure and Services. They are generally recognised as income when the Museum obtains control over the assets
comprising the grants and contributions. Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of
cash.

(g) Assets
i.

Acquisition of assets
Assets acquired are initially recognised at cost. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of
the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the
amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian
Accounting Standards.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of
acquisition (see also assets transferred as a result of an equity transfer — Note 1 (k)).
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at
measurement date.
Collection items acquired during the year are recorded at cost, including a processing cost incurred in relation to the
research and selection, transport, documentation and cataloguing, condition assessment and conservation treatment
required to acquire items into the Museum’s collection, and are recognised as assets. Processing costs are dependent
on the nature, size, availability in the market and knowledge of history of the item and consist of staff salary and freight
costs.

ii.

Capitalisation thresholds
Property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised. Computer related assets costing
individually $5,000 or less but which form part of a network with a cumulative value in excess of $5,000 are also capitalised.

iii.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value”
Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value
Measurement, and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible,
legally permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and
take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by
government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use.
In limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on
use or where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.
Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant’s perspective, using valuation techniques
(market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable
inputs. Also refer Note 10 and Note 11 for further information regarding fair value.
The Museum re-values each class of property, plant and equipment at least every five years or with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting
date. The last revaluation was completed on 30 June 2010 and was based on an independent assessment.
Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, as a surrogate for fair value.
When revaluing non-current assets using the cost approach, the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation
are separately restated.
For other assets, using other valuation techniques, any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in
respect of those assets are credited to the asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then
increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or decrements.
Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment
reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the net result,
the increment is recognised immediately as revenue in the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the
asset revaluation surplus.
As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of noncurrent assets, but not otherwise.
Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset revaluation surplus
in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

iv.

34

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to
arise. As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can only arise in the rare circumstances where
the costs of disposal are material. Specifically, impairment is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136
modifies the recoverable amount test for non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and depreciated replacement cost, where depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.
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v.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2014

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Except for certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to
write off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Museum.
All material separately identifiable component assets are depreciated over their useful lives.
Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets, such as the Museum’s collection items, may not have a limited
useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to
depreciation. The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.
Depreciation rates are reviewed each year taking into consideration the condition and estimated useful life of the assets.
Category:
Buildings
Buildings — internal services and major components
Plant and equipment
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles
Exhibitions
Collection

vi.

Depreciation Rate:
2.00%
4.00 – 50.00%
3.33 – 50.00%
15.00 – 33.33%
10.00 – 20.00%
5.88 – 50.00%
0.00 – 20.00%

Restoration costs
The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost of an asset, to the
extent it is recognised as a liability.

vii. Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the
replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
viii. Leased assets
The Museum leases certain plant and equipment.
All such leases are operating leases, where the lessors effectively retain substantially all the risks and benefits of
ownership of the leased items, the payments on which are included in the determination of the results of operations
over the lease term.
Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the periods in which they are
incurred.
ix.

Loans and receivables
The Museum does not have any loans. Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. Any changes are recognised in the net result for the year
when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process.
Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial.

x.

Investments
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit and loss,
transaction costs. The Museum determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial year end.
Fair value through profit or loss
The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the second leg of the
fair value option; i.e. these financial assets are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management strategy, and information about these assets is provided internally
on that basis to the Museum’s key management personnel.
The movement in the fair value of the Hour-Glass Investment Facilities incorporates distributions received as well as
unrealised movements in fair value and is reported in the line item ‘investment revenue’.
In the event of the Museum receiving a bequest including shares, the shares are held at fair value until all transfers in
relation to the bequests are finalised and are then sold at market value. The Museum does not trade in shares.
The fair value of investments that are traded at fair value in an active market is determined by reference to quoted
current bid prices at the close of business on the statement of financial position date.

xi.

Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit and loss, are subject to an annual review for
impairment. An allowance for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able
to collect all amounts due.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of
the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through
the net result for the year. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost cannot result in a
carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an impairment loss.
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xii. Derivative financial instruments
The Museum holds derivative financial instruments to hedge significant foreign currency risk exposures. Derivatives are
initially recognised at fair value. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit and loss when incurred. Changes in
the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value hedge are recognised directly in profit and
loss.
If the hedge instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised,
then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.
xiii. Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the
entity transfers the financial asset:
•
•

where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred or
where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained control.

Where the entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the
asset is recognised to the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement in the asset.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.
(h) Liabilities
i.

Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Museum, and other amounts. Payables are
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the
original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

ii.

Personnel services and other provisions
a) Personnel Services Arrangements
As a consequence of the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014, the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff
Agency commenced operations on 24 February 2014, when it assumed responsibility for the employees and
employee related liabilities of the former employer, the NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional
Infrastructure and Services, in relation to personnel working for the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. The
assumed liabilities were recognised on 24 February 2014 together with the offsetting receivable representing the
related funding due from the former employer.
Prior to 24 February 2014 all payments to personnel and related obligations were made in the NSW Department of
Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services name and ABN and are classified as “Personnel
Services” costs in these financial statements.
From 24 February 2014 all payments to personnel and related obligations were made by the Museum of Applied
Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, and are classified as “Employee Related” cost on consolidation in these financial
statements.

iii.

Employee benefits and other provisions
a) Salaries and wages, annual leave , sick leave and on-costs
Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and
measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period
in which the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice
obtained by Treasury has confirmed that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability
(using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave
liability.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in
the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
b)

Long service leave and superannuation
The Museum’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown
Entity. The Museum accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
benefits and other liabilities’.
Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on
the application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 14/04) to employees with five or more years of service, using
current rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.
The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated
as a percentage of the employee’s salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme
and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’
superannuation contributions.
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Consequential on-costs
Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to
which they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation
insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax.

Other provisions
Other provisions exist when: the Museum has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has raised a
valid expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the
plan or announcing its main features to those affected.

(i)

Fair value hierarchy
A number of the Museum’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the Museum categorises, for disclosure
purposes, the valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows;
•
•
•

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the Museum can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The Museum recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.
Refer Note 11 and Note 17 for further disclosures regarding fair value measurements of financial and non-financial assets.
(j)

Equity and reserves
i.

Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This
accords with the Museum’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 1(g)(iii)).

ii.

Accumulated Funds
The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

iii.

Separate reserve accounts are recognised in the financial statements only if such accounts are required by specific
legislation or Australian Accounting Standards (e.g. revaluation surplus and foreign currency translation reserve).

(k) Equity Transfers
The transfer of net assets between entities as a result of an administrative restructure, transfer of programs / functions and
parts thereof between NSW public sector entities and ‘equity appropriations’ are designated or required by Australian
Accounting Standards to be treated as contributions by owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘Accumulated Funds’.
This treatment is consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions and Australian Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made
to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities.
Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit and for-profit government entities are recognised at
the amount at which the assets and liabilities were recognised by the transferor immediately prior to the restructure. Subject
to below, in most instances this will approximate fair value.
All other equity transfers are recognised at fair value.
(l)

Accounting for Joint Ventures
The Museum has a joint venture agreement in relation to the Retail Operations Business at the Powerhouse Shop, Sydney
Observatory Shop and any Special Exhibitions Shops within the Powerhouse Museum. The Joint Venture is a jointly controlled
entity, and as such is accounted for using the equity method.
The joint venture is responsible for the management, operations and product development in relation to the Retail Operations
Business at the Powerhouse Museum and Sydney Observatory. The Museum has contributed 50% of the working capital for
the joint venture and is entitled to a 50% share of profits from the joint venture.

(m) Conditions on contributions
The Museum receives funds of which the expenditure is restricted by the conditions under which the donation or bequest is
made. These funds are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received.
(n) Non-Monetary Assistance
The Museum receives assistance and contributions from third parties by way of the provision of volunteer labour, donations
and bequests to the collection and the provision of goods and services free of charge. Non-Monetary contributions are
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are to be recognised when and only when a fair value of those
services can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
(o) Taxation Status
The activities of the Museum are exempt from income tax. The Museum is registered for GST purposes and has gift
deductible recipient status.
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(p) Trustee Benefits
No Trustee of the Museum has entered into a material contract with the Museum since the end of the previous financial
period and there are no material contracts involving Trustee’s interests existing at the end of the period.
(q) Budgeted amounts
The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the
reporting period, as adjusted for section 24 of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 where there has been a transfer of
functions between departments. Other amendments made to the budget are not reflected in the budgeted amounts.
(r)

Comparative information
Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in
respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(s)

Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards
i.

Effective for the first time in 2013–14
The Museum adopted AASB13 Fair Value Measurement for the first time in 2013–14. This resulted in additional note
disclosures in relation to the fair value hierarchy. In addition the Museum adopted AASB 119 Employee Benefits and has
accordingly adjusted annual leave balances not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months for present value (refer
note 1(h)iii a)).

ii.

Issued but not yet effective
NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury
determines otherwise.
The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 and AASB 2012-6 regarding financial instruments, which are applicable to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
AASB 10 (NFP) Consolidated Financial Statements, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014.
AASB 11 (NFP) Joint Arrangements, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014.
AASB 12 (NFP) Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, which is applicable to reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014.
AASB 127 (NFP) Separate Financial Statements, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014.
AASB 128 (NFP) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, which is applicable to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
AASB 1055 and AASB 2013-1 regarding budgetary reporting, which are applicable to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
AASB 2011-7 (NFP) regarding consolidation and joint arrangements, which is applicable to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 — Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets, which is
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
AASB 2013-6 regarding Reduced Disclosure Requirements, which is applicable to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
AASB 2013-8 regarding Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities — Control and Structured
Entities which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
AASB 2013-9 regarding the Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments (Parts B and C), which is
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The Museum has assessed the impact of these new standards and interpretations and considers the impact to be
insignificant.
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Economic Entity

Parent

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

14,658

22,248

22,841

22,248

-

2,018

7,119

2,018

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Personnel services expenses
Salaries and wages (including Recreation Leave)
Voluntary Redundancy Program
Superannuation — defined benefit plans

508

766

763

766

1,075

1,556

1,582

1,556

Long Service Leave

283

351

1,008

351

Workers Compensation Insurance

319

597

552

597

Payroll Tax

945

1,381

1,451

1,381

Superannuation — defined contribution plans

Other Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax

8

12

9

12

17,796

28,929

35,325

28,929

In addition, personnel services costs have been incurred on capital projects, including $313,000 (2013 $374,000) for
processing costs in accessioning additions to the collection (refer notes 1(g)(i) and 10). Personnel services non-cash
contributions of $517,000 (2013 $747,000) in the form of voluntary labour, were also received.
(b) Employee related expenses
Salaries and wages (including Recreation Leave)

8,183

-

-

-

Voluntary Redundancy Program

7,119

-

-

-

255

-

-

-

Superannuation — defined benefit plans
Superannuation — defined contribution plans

508

-

-

-

Long Service Leave

724

-

-

-

Workers Compensation Insurance

233

-

-

-

Payroll Tax

506

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

17,530

-

-

-

Other Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax

In addition, employee related expenses have been incurred on capital projects, including $113,000 (2013 Nil) for processing
costs in accessioning additions to the collection (refer notes 1(g)(i) and 10). Non-cash contributions of $248,000 (2013 Nil) in
the form of voluntary labour, were also received.
During the year the Museum announced a major restructure of its operations resulting in the Museum creating a provision
for redundancy payments of $6,914,000 at 30 June 2014. Redundancy payments made during the year total $205,000.
(c)

Other operating expenses
Advertising and publicity

731

1,231

731

1,231

– audit of financial statements

86

– other audit fees

34

74

86

74

-

34

-

Cleaning and laundry
Computer software

983

993

983

993

297

228

297

228

Consumables

464

542

464

542

Exhibition fit-out

301

92

301

92

Exhibition hire

545

182

545

182

Auditor’s remuneration

Fees — contract services

1,545

1,746

1,545

1,746

Freight, cartage and handling

230

86

230

86

Insurance

414

375

414

375

Legal, royalty and copyright fees

(16)

383

(16)

383

Maintenance

1,168

1,282

1,168

1,282

Power and water supplies

2,038

2,181

2,038

2,181

Printing and publications

278

237

278

237

Travel and accommodation

181

183

181

183

Other

1,088

1,145

1,088

1,145

10,367

10,960

10,367

10,960
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Economic Entity

Parent

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

1,168

1,282

1,168

1,282

Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a)

504

801

772

801

Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(b)

268

-

-

-

1,940

2,083

1,940

2,083

Reconciliation — total maintenance
Maintenance expense as above

Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a) & 2(b)
(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense
Buildings

3,711

3,417

3,711

3,417

Plant and equipment

354

425

354

425

Exhibition fit out

867

1,552

867

1,552

Collection

15

7

15

7

4,946

5,401

4,946

5,401

Shops

41

58

41

58

Publications

46

90

46

90

87

148

87

148

3. REVENUE

(a) Sale of goods and services
Sale of goods

Rendering of Services
Admissions

3,899

3,781

3,899

3,781

Members organisation

500

463

500

463

Leased operations

272

222

272

222

Venue hire and catering

517

423

517

423

43

20

43

20

Exhibition fees
Fees for staff services

78

227

78

227

5,309

5,136

5,309

5,136

5,396

5,284

5,396

5,284

297

546

297

546

31

19

31

19

256

212

256

212

(b) Investment income
TCorp Hourglass investment facilities
Increase in value of shares
Interest
Dividends

(c)

5

16

5

16

589

793

589

793

Recurrent Grants

27,838

29,919

27,838

29,919

Capital Grants

14,898

5,012

14,898

5,012

Superannuation — defined benefit

508

766

508

766

Long service leave

284

418

284

418

Grants and contributions
From NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional
Infrastructure and Services (DTIRIS):

Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of charge
by DTIRIS

Payroll tax
Total grants from DTIRIS

40

28

42

28

42

43,556

36,157

43,556

36,157
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Economic Entity

Parent

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

-

-

255

-

Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of charge
by Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency
Superannuation — defined benefit
Long service leave

-

-

649

-

Payroll tax

-

-

14

-

-

-

918

-

900

772

900

772

25

184

25

184

From other institutions and individuals:
Grants — Other
Bequests
Public Donations

139

97

139

97

Foundation Donations

27

72

27

72

Industry donations and contributions

90

505

90

505

2,200

515

2,200

515

18

496

18

496

Collection Donations — in kind
Other Donations — in kind

3,399

2,641

3,399

2,641

46,955

38,798

47,873

38,798

Included in the Museum’s Capital Grants from NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and
Services, is $11,840,000 for construction of a Shared Storage Facility at the Powerhouse Discovery Centre. During 2013–14
$2,247,000 of this grant was expended with $9,593,000 to be expended in 2014–15.
(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and
other liabilities
Superannuation — defined benefit

255

-

-

-

Long service leave

649

-

-

-

Payroll tax

14

-

-

-

918

-

-

-

235

461

235

461

(e) Other revenue
Other income
Vendor balance adjustment

71

-

71

-

306

461

306

461

73

57

73

57

(43)

(69)

(43)

(69)

30

(12)

30

(12)

4. GAIN / (LOSS) ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Proceeds from sale of plant & equipment
Written down value of assets sold/disposed

5. CURRENT ASSETS — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand
TCorp Hour-Glass cash deposits

1,886

330

1,886

330

10,252

4,951

10,252

4,951

12,138

5,281

12,138

5,281
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Economic Entity
2014
$’000

Parent

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at bank and current
and non-current investments consisting of certificates of deposit, bank bills and investments with TCorp.
Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of the financial
year to statement of cash flows as follows:
Cash and Cash Equivalents (per statement of financial position)

12,138

5,281

12,138

5,281

TCorp Hour-Glass Medium Term Growth Facility

1,581

-

1,581

-

TCorp Hour-Glass Long Term Growth Facility

2,317

2,042

2,317

2,042

16,036

7,323

16,036

7,323

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows)

Refer note 17 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity and market risk arising from financial instruments.
6. CURRENT ASSETS — RECEIVABLES

Sale of goods and services
Less: Allowance for impairment
Accrued Interest on Deposits
Other debtors
Prepayments

252

492

252

492

(6)

-

(6)

-

-

5

-

5

368

700

368

700

232

265

232

265

845

1,462

845

1,462

Movement in the allowance for impairment:
Balance at 1 July

-

1

-

1

Amounts written off during the year

-

(1)

-

(1)

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit and loss

6

-

6

-

Balance at 30 June

6

-

6

-

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are
disclosed in Note 17

7. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
TCorp Hour-Glass investment facilities (Medium Term Growth)

1,581

-

1,581

-

TCorp Hour-Glass investment facilities (Long Term Growth)

2,317

2,042

2,317

2,042

Shares

111

80

111

80

4,009

2,122

4,009

2,122

Refer to Note 17 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.
8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
Movement in the carrying amount of investment in joint venture.
Opening balance at start of year
Share of profits
Dividends received/receivable
Investment received/receivable
Closing balance at end of year
Total share of net profits from joint venture investment
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127

127

127

127

8

-

8

-

(8)

-

(8)

-

-

-

-

-

127

127

127

127

8

-

8

-
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Economic Entity
2014
$’000

Parent

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

9. RESTRICTED ASSETS
Included in investments are funds donated or bequeathed to the Museum for specific purposes. They are made up of
amounts that are expendable at any time in the future by the Trustees in accordance with the donation or bequest.
Bequests

769

697

769

697

769

697

769

697

Land and
Buildings
$’000

Plant and
Equipment
$’000

Collection
Assets
$’000

Total
$’000

216,197

45,624

399,831

661,652

62,720

40,098

7

102,825

153,477

5,526

399,824

558,827

220,255

46,095

402,653

669,003

66,430

41,241

22

107,693

153,825

4,854

402,631

561,310

10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2014 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
At 1 July 2013 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2014 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

Collection items acquired free of charge during the year have been valued, where values can be reasonably determined, at
$2,200,000 (2013 $515,000). This amount has been treated as additions under collection at valuation. Processing costs in
relation to the accessioning have been included in collection at cost. Processing costs include employee related costs of
$426,000 (2013 $374,000).
Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of each
reporting period are set out below:

Reconciliation

Land and
Buildings
$’000

Plant and
Equipment
$’000

Collection
Assets
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended 30 June 2014
Net carrying amount at start of year

153,477

5,526

399,824

558,827

Additions

4,058

601

2,822

7,480

Disposals

-

(53)

-

(53)

(3,711)

(1,221)

(15)

(4,946)

153,825

4,854

402,631

561,310

Depreciation Expense
Net carrying amount at end of year
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2013 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Land and
Buildings
$’000

Plant and
Equipment
$’000

Collection
Assets
$’000

Total
$’000

211,692

47,294

398,793

657,779

59,302

40,289

-

99,591

152,390

7,005

398,793

558,188

216,197

45,624

399,831

661,652

At 1 July 2012 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2013 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

Reconciliation

62,720

40,098

7

102,825

153,477

5,526

399,824

558,827

Land and
Buildings
$’000

Plant and
Equipment
$’000

Collection
Assets
$’000

Total
$’000

152,390

7,005

398,793

558,188

Year ended 30 June 2013
Net carrying amount at start of year
Additions

4,504

566

1,038

6,108

Disposals

-

(68)

-

(68)

(3,417)

(1,977)

(7)

(5,401)

153,477

5,526

399,824

558,827

Depreciation Expense
Net carrying amount at end of year

11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a) Fair value hierarchy
2014 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1

Level 2

Total fair
value
$’000

Level 3

Property, plant and equipment (Note 10)
Land and Buildings
Collection Assets

-

153,825

-

153,825

-

-

402,631

402,631

-

153,825

402,631

556,456

There were no transfers between Level 1 or 2 during the period.
(b) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes
Fair value of the Museum’s main Property, plant and equipment assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by
independent, professionally qualified valuers. Land assets are valued using the market approach. Buildings and associated
plant are valued using the depreciated cost approach. Certain collection assets such as coins, philately, jewellery, books and
furniture that have observable market prices are valued using the market approach. Other collection assets are valued using
the cost approach via a reproduction cost. The last revaluation of property plant and equipment was completed on 30 June
2010, assuming that the use of the assets at the time of the valuation were the highest and best use.
The valuation of collection assets involves the use of sampling techniques by professional statisticians. All assets regarded
as highly significant are individually valued, with other assets valued by category of item using appropriately sized samples to
determine the overall value of the relevant category. Categories vary from having observable established active markets to an
absence of an active market, and unobservable inputs such as the provenance of an item has a significant impact on its value.
(c)

Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements

2014 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Fair value as at 1 July 2013
Additions
Depreciation
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Collection
Assets
$,000

Total
Recurring
Level 3
Fair Value
$’000

399,824

399,824

2,822

2,822

(15)

(15)

402,631

402,631
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Economic Entity
12. CURRENT LIABILITIES — PAYABLES

2014
$’000

Parent

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

582

-

-

-

Accrued personnel services expenses

-

656

673

656

1,046

1,253

1,045

1,253

Accruals

922

882

832

882

Income paid in advance

280

270

280

270

2,830

3,061

2,830

3,061

Trade Creditors

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in
Note 17
13. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Redundancy Payments

6,914

-

-

-

Annual leave

2,058

-

-

-

Annual leave on-costs

165

-

-

-

Payroll tax on annual leave

112

-

-

-

Long service leave on-costs

599

-

-

-

Payroll tax on long service leave

407

-

-

-

10,255

-

-

-

Provisions for personnel services expenses
Redundancy Payments

-

-

6,914

-

Recreation leave

-

1,824

2,058

1,824

Annual leave on-costs

-

148

165

148

Payroll tax on annual leave

-

99

112

99

Long service leave on-costs

-

524

599

524

Payroll tax on long service leave

-

377

407

377

-

2,972

10,255

2,972

10,205

-

-

-

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions — current
Provisions — non-current
Provisions — personnel services — current
Provisions — personnel services — non-current
Accrued salaries, wage and on-costs (Note 12)
Accrued personnel services expenses (Note 12)

50

-

-

-

-

2,927

10,205

2,927

-

45

50

45

582

-

-

-

-

656

673

656

10,837

3,628

10,928

3,628

During the year the Museum announced a major restructure of its operations resulting in the Museum creating a provision
for redundancy payments of $6,914,000 at 30 June 2014. Redundancy payments made during the year total $205,000.
Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $184,000.
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14. INCREASE/DECREASE IN NET ASSETS FROM EQUITY TRANSFERS
Contributions by owners
Transferred in from the NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services.
Receivables
Payables
Provisions — employee entitlements
Change in Net Assets / Accumulated Funds

3,444

-

-

-

(663)

-

-

-

(2,781)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15. BUDGET REVIEW
The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates
variations to the planned activities of the Museum for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities.
Major variations between the original budget and actual amounts are outlined below. Note that budget figures shown in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position provide greater detail than budget figures
published in the NSW Government Budget Papers 2013–14. Museum management is of the opinion that the greater level of
detail provides a more accurate indication of the Museum’s performance against budget.
Net Result
The actual net result was lower than budget by $10,566,000. This was due to reduced capital grant income of $3,627,000,
due to the deferral of same until 2014–15 as a result of delays in the construction of additional collection storage facilities. In
addition, a major restructure of the organisation was announced through the year, resulting in total redundancy payment
expenditure of $6,981,000.
Asset and liabilities
Current assets are higher than budgeted, as a result of increased cash balances due to delays in the construction of
additional collection storage facilities. Non-current assets are lower than budgeted due to the construction delays referred to
above.
Cash flows
Net cash inflows from operating activities were lower than budget due to a reduction to the Museum’s capital grant of
$3,627,000 as a result of construction delays. Net cash outflows from investing activities were below budget due to the
construction delays experienced, with capital grant funds received but not spent being reflected in the Closing Cash Balance.

16. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

Economic Entity

Parent

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

13,918

3,681

13,918

3,681

(4,946)

(5,401)

(4,946)

(5,401)

2,200

515

2,200

515

Unrealised / realised (losses) / gains

30

19

30

19

Impairment Allowance

(6)

-

(6)

-

156

788

156

788

(7,209)

241

(7,209)

241

(579)

166

(579)

166

Net cash used on operating activities
Adjustments for items not involving cash
Depreciation
Donations to the collection

Decrease / (increase) in creditors
Decrease / (increase) in employee entitlements
Increase / (decrease) in receivables
Increase / (decrease) in interest receivable
Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets
Net gain / (loss) on sale of plant and equipment
Net Result

46

(5)

5

(5)

5

(33)

31

(33)

31

30

(12)

30

(12)

3,556

34

3,556

34
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Museum’s principle financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the
Museum’s operations or are required to finance the Museum’s operations. The Museum does not enter into or trade
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
The Museum’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Museum’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included
throughout these financial statements.
The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and
analyse the risks faced by the Museum, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the
internal auditors, with reporting to the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.
(a) Financial instrument categories

Financial Assets

Note

Category

Cash and cash
equivalents

5

N/A

Receivables1

6

Loans and receivables (at
amortised cost)

Financial assets at fair
value

7

At fair value through profit
or loss — designated as
such upon initial recognition

Financial Liabilities

Payables2

Note

12

Category

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

Economic Entity

Parent

Carrying Amount

Carrying Amount

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

12,138

5,281

12,138

5,281

245

492

245

492

4,009

2,122

4,009

2,122

Economic Entity

Parent

Carrying Amount

Carrying Amount

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2,459

2,958

2,459

2,958

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Museum’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in
a financial loss to the Museum. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the
financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Museum, including cash and receivables. No collateral is held by the
Museum. The Museum has not granted any financial guarantees.
Credit risk associated with the Museum’s financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the selection of
counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards.
Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances with the Westpac Banking Corporation and deposits in TCorp Hour-Glass Cash
Facilities. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at the weekly average of the 30 day Bank Bill rate adjusted for a
management fee to Westpac.
Receivables — trade debtors
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts. Debts which are
known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the
entity will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes
in economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.
The Museum is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Based on
past experience, debtors that are not past due (2014 $137,000; 2013 $503,000) and less than 60 days past due (2014
$56,000; 2013 $8,000) are not considered impaired. Together these represent 100% of the total trade debtors. There are no
debtors which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.
The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the receivables category of the
statement of financial position.
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$’000

$’000

$’000

Total1,2

Past due but not
impaired1,2

Considered impaired1,2

Economic
Entity

Economic
Entity

Parent

Economic
Entity

Parent

Parent

2014
< 3 months overdue

56

56

56

56

-

-

3 months – 6 months overdue

6

6

5

5

1

1

> 6 months overdue

5

5

-

-

5

5

8

8

8

8

-

-

2013
< 3 months overdue
3 months – 6 months overdue

-

-

-

-

-

-

> 6 months overdue

-

-

-

-

-

-

Notes
1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’
2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that are not past
due and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Museum
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high
quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.
During the current and prior years the Museum did not have any borrowings. The Museum’s exposure to liquidity risk is
deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced.
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For
small business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of
correctly rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the
month following the month in which an invoice is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within
the specified time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For
payments to other suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically
pay the supplier simple interest. No interest was paid on late payments during 2014 (2013 Nil).
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities
Economic Entity
(including parent at same values)
Weighted
Average
Effective
Int. Rate

Nominal
Amount1

$’000
Interest Rate Exposure
Fixed
Interest
Rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

$’000
Maturity Dates

Noninterest
bearing

< 1 yr

1 – 5 yrs

> 5 yrs

2014
Payables

na

2,459

-

-

2,459

2,459

-

-

2,459

-

-

2,459

2,459

-

-

2013
Payables

na

2,958

-

-

2,958

2,958

-

-

2,958

-

-

2,958

2,958

-

-

Notes:
1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to
the statement of financial position.

(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. The Museum’s exposures to market risk are primarily through other price risks associated with the movement
in the unit price of the Hour Glass Investment Facilities.
The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for
other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic
environment in which the Museum operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual
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reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2013. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Other price risk — TCorp Hour-Glass facilities
Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities, which are
held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Museum has no direct equity investments. The Museum holds units in the
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Investment Sectors

Investment
Horizon

Cash facility

Cash, money market instruments

Up to 1.5 years

Medium-term growth facility

Cash, money market instruments,
Australian and international bonds,
listed property and Australian
shares

Long-term growth facility

Cash, money market instruments,
Australian bonds, listed property,
Australian and international shares

Facility

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

10,252

3,436

3 years to 7 years

1,581

-

7 years and over

2,317

2,042

The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided by the number of units
on issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.
NSW TCorp as trustee for each of the above facilities is required to act in the best interest of the unit-holders and to
administer the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the
performance and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. TCorp has also leveraged off
internal expertise to manage certain fixed income assets for the Hour-Glass facilities. A significant portion of the
administration of the facilities is outsourced to an external custodian.
Investment in the Hour-Glass facilities limits the Museum’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds
with different investment horizons and a mix of investments.
NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour-Glass
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit and loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly
on profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by
TCorp) multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour-Glass Statement).
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Impact on profit/loss
Change in
unit price

Facility

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

103

34

Hour-Glass Investment — Cash facility

+/- 1%

Hour-Glass Investment — Medium-term growth facility

+/- 6%

95

-

Hour-Glass Investment — Long-term growth facility

+/- 15%

348

306

(e) Currency risk
The Museum is currently not exposed to currency risk on purchases made in currencies other than Australian Dollars. The
Museum hedges between 80 and 100 percent of any substantial future foreign currency purchases when contracted. The
Museum uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, as soon as the liability arises, with maturity dates on the
same dates as the contracted payments.
(f)

Fair value measurement
i

Fair value compared to carrying amount
Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour-Glass facilities which are
measured at fair value. Except where specified below, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the
statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

ii

Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position
2014
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

-

14,150

-

14,150

111

-

-

111

111

14,150

-

14,261

Financial assets at fair value
TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities
Shares
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2013
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets at fair value
TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities
Shares

-

5,478

-

5,478

80

-

-

80

80

5,478

-

5,478

The tables above include only financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the periods.
The value of the Hour-Glass Investments is based on the Museum’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the
facility, based on the market value. All of the Hour-Glass facilities are valued using ‘redemption’ pricing.
18. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Assistance and contributions received free of charge from third parties are recorded in the financial statements in relation to
donations to the collection. Total assistance and contributions received free of charge are detailed below:
Donations of collection items are brought to account by creating an asset and crediting non-cash donations (refer notes 3(c),
10 and 16).
Economic Entity
19. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

Parent

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

1,715

1,072

1,715

1,072

79

-

79

-

1,794

1,072

1,794

1,072

Not later than one year

-

54

-

54

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

-

-

-

-

Total (including GST)

-

54

-

54

1,840

1,641

1,840

1,641

58

-

58

-

1,898

1,641

1,898

1,641

(a) Capital Commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for various
refurbishment projects at balance date and not provided for:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Total (including GST)
(b) Operating Lease Commitments
Aggregate operating lease expenditure for storage during major
construction works and not provided for:

(c)

Other expenditure commitments
Aggregate other expenditure contracted for exhibition hire,
maintenance, printing and insurance at balance date and not
provided for:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Total (including GST)

The total commitments above include input tax credits of $271,000 (2013 $252,000) that are expected to be recovered from the
Australian Taxation Office.
20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Trust is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities as at balance date (2013 Nil).
21. PAYMENTS MADE TO CONSULTANTS
Total payments made to consultants during the year totalled $44,000 (2013 $32,000).
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22. PAYMENTS MADE TO TRUSTEES
No payments were made to trustees during the year (2013 Nil).
23. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matter, or circumstance, has arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report that, has or may
significantly affect the activities of the Museum, the results of those activities or its state of affairs, in the ensuing, or any
subsequent, financial year.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL REPORT
STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C(1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983
Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees of the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:
(a)

the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit
Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010, the Treasurer’s Directions and relevant
Australian Accounting Standards;

(b)

the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2014 and the
results of the operations for the period 24 February 2014 to 30 June 2014;

(c)

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading or
inaccurate.

J. SHINE
PRESIDENT
Date: 16 September 2014
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Actual
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Salaries and Wages

7,813

-

Redundancy Payments

7,119

-

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the period from 24 February 2014 to 30 June 2014

Notes

EXPENSES

Annual Leave

482

-

Long Service Leave and Oncosts

724

-

Superannuation — Defined Contribution Plans

508

-

Superannuation — Defined Benefits Plans

255

-

Payroll Tax

506

-

Fringe Benefits Tax

1

-

233

-

17,642

-

16,724

-

918

-

17,642

-

Net Result

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the period

-

-

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

-

-

Workers Compensation
Total Expenses
REVENUE
Personnel services
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities
Total Revenue

2

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2014

Notes

Actual
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

3

10,878

-

10,878

-

50

-

50

-

10,928

-

673

-

ASSETS
Current Assets
Receivables
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Receivables

3

Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

4

Provisions

5

Total Current Liabilities

10,205

-

10,878

-

50

-

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

5

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets

50

-

10,928

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

EQUITY
Accumulated funds
Total Equity
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the period from 24 February 2014 to 30 June 2014

Accumulated Funds
Notes

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Balance at the beginning of the period

-

-

Net result for the period

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity transfers
Balance as at 30 June 2014

6

-

-

-

-

-

-
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period from 24 February 2014 to 30 June 2014

Actual
2014
$’000

Actual
2013
$’000

Net cash flows from operating activities

-

-

Net cash flows from investing activities

-

-

Net cash flows from financing activities

-

-

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH

-

-

Opening cash and cash equivalents

-

-

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

-

-

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

58

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2014

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Reporting Entity
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the NSW Department of Trade and
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services, established by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. It is a not-forprofit entity as profit is not its principal objective. The reporting entity is consolidated as part of the Trustees of the Museum of
Applied Arts and Sciences.
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum of
Applied Arts and Sciences.
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency commenced operations on 24 February 2014, when it assumed
responsibility for the employees and employee related liabilities of the former employer, the NSW Department Trade and
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 24 February 2014 together with
the offsetting receivable representing the related funding due from the former employer.
These financial statements for the period 24 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees
on 16 September 2014.
(b) Basis of Preparation
The entity’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010, and specific directions issued by the Treasurer.
Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statement does not take into account
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value (Refer Note 1(h) and 6).
The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.
Management’s judgements, key assumptions and estimates are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that repayment of debts will be met as
and when they fall due, without any intention or necessity to liquidate assets or otherwise winding up the operations.
All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.
Comparative figures are nil due to the creation of the entity on 24 February 2014.
(c)

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting
Interpretations.
The Museum has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective from the current annual reporting period. The impact
to the Museum of the adoption of the new standards and interpretations was insignificant.

(d) Income Recognition
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of personnel
services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses are
recognised.
(e) Receivables
A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it has a value
that can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash flows from it expire or are
transferred.
A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,
less any allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the original invoice
amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement within thirty days of
invoicing.
(f)

Payables
Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and workers’
compensation insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.
A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the obligation
expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.
A short-term payable with no stated interest rate is measured at historical cost if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

(g) Employee benefits and other provisions
i.

Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs
Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and
measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.
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Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in
which the employees render the related service. As such it is required to be measured at present value in accordance
with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has
confirmed that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal
value of annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has
accordingly adjusted annual leave balances to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
ii.

Long service leave and superannuation
The entity’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The
entity accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the
non-monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.
Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 199 Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 14/04) to employees with five or more years of service, using current
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.
The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation
contributions.

iii.

Consequential on-costs
Consequential on-costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefit tax.

(h) Equity Transfers
The transfer of net assets between entities as a result of an administrative restructure, transfers of programs/functions and
parts thereof between NSW public sector entities and ‘equity appropriations’ are designated or required by Australian
Accounting Standards to be treated as contributions by owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘Accumulated Funds’.
This treatment is consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions and Australian Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made
to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities.
Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit and for-profit government entities are recognised at
an amount at which the assets and liabilities were recognised by the transferor immediately prior to the restructure. In most
instances this will approximate fair value (Refer Note 6).
(i)

Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
The entity did not early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretations that are not yet effective. The entity has
assessed the impact of all new standards and interpretations and considers that no standard that is significant to the entity
has been published.
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2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Superannuation — defined benefit

255

-

Long service leave

649

-

14

-

918

-

10,878

-

10,878

-

2. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Payroll tax

3. RECEIVABLES
Current
Receivables from Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

Non-current
Receivables from Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

50

-

50

-

582

-

4. PAYABLES
Current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs
Payable to Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

91

-

673

-

Redundancy payments

6,914

-

Annual leave

2,058

-

Annual leave on-costs

165

-

Payroll tax on annual leave

112

-

Long service leave on-costs

599

-

5. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS
Employee benefits and related on-costs

Payroll tax on long service leave

407

-

10,255

-

10,205

-

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions — current
Provisions — non-current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 4)

50

-

582

-

10,729

-

During the year the Museum announced a major restructure of its operations resulting in the Museum creating a provision
for redundancy payments of $6,914,000 at 30 June 2014. Redundancy payments made during the year total $205,000.
Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $184,000.
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2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Receivables

3,444

-

Payables

(663)

-

(2,781)

-

-

-

6. INCREASE/DECREASE IN NET ASSETS FROM EQUITY TRANSFERS
Contributions by owners
Transferred in from the NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and
Services.

Provisions — employee entitlements
Change in Net Assets / Accumulated Funds

7. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matter, or circumstance, has arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report that, has or may
significantly affect the activities of the Museum, the results of those activities or its state of affairs, in the ensuing, or any
subsequent, financial year.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Trustees at 30 June 2014
Professor John Shine AO, FAA, BSc (Hon), PhD, DSc
Term: 25.01.12 – 31.12.13; 01.01.14 – 31.12.16
President (from 25.01.12)
Chairman, CSL Limited;
Executive Director, Garvan Institute of Medical Research
1990–2011;
Professor of Medicine and Professor of Molecular Biology,
University of NSW;
Former Chairman, National Health and Medical Research
Council;
Fellow, Australian Academy of Sciences
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 6; leave 0
Professor Shirley Alexander BSc, MAppStats, GradDipEd
Term: 01.01.07 – 31.12.09; 24.02.10 – 31.12.12;
01.01.13 – 31.12.15
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Teaching, Learning and Equity)
University of Technology, Sydney
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 4; leave 2
Mr John M Barbouttis, B. Com (Hons), LLB
Term: 11.01.12 – 31.12.14
Solicitor, and Director of a family controlled group of
companies;
Member, Maritime Advisory Council, Roads and Maritime
Services NSW,
Commodore, Royal Motor Yacht Club, Point Piper
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 4; leave 2
Ms Elizabeth Bryan AM MA
Term: 01.01.14 – 31.12.16
Chair, Caltex Australia;
Director, Westpac;
Member, Australian Government Takeovers Panel
Meetings: eligible 2; attended 1; leave 1
Mr Robert Cameron AO, BE (Hons), MBA, GradDip
Geoscience, FAusIMM, FAIM, FAICD
Term: 11.01.12 – 31.12.14
Chairman, Centennial Coal Company Limited (Formerly its
founder, Managing Director and CEO (1994–2011);
Chairman, County Coal Ltd; Minerals Industry Advisory
Council, UNSW; Pacific Smiles Ltd; Hunter Valley Training
Company Ltd; Mining Education Australia;
Member, UNSW Dean’s Engineering Industrial Steering
Committee; Rotary Club of Sydney Cove;
Trustee UNSW Foundation
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 4; leave 2
Ms Lisa Chung LLB, FAIM, FAPI, MAICD
Term: 01.01.14 – 31.12.16
Partner, Maddocks;
Chairman, The Benevolent Society;
Former Director, Northcott Society and Institute of
Management NSW/ACT
Meetings: eligible 2; attended 2; leave 0

Mr James Longley BEc, MEc, FCPA, FAIM, FAICD
Term: 11.01.12 – 31.12.12; 01.01.13 – 31.12.15
Chief Executive, Ageing, Disability and Home Care;
Former Executive Vice President, Government Banking
Group, Commonwealth Bank of Australia;
Director, RSL Life Care (Veterans Retirement Villages);
Former CEO & Managing Director, Anglican Retirement
Villages;
Former Member of Parliament of NSW (1986–1996) and
Minister, Community Services, Ageing, Aboriginal Affairs
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 5; leave 1
Dr Judith O’Callaghan PhD, BA, MA, GradDipT
Term: 01.01.13 – 31.12.15
Director of Postgraduate Research, Faculty of Built
Environment, University of NSW;
Member, Heritage and Endangered Houses Advisory
Committee, Historic Houses Trust of NSW;
Member, Society of Architectural Historians Australia and
New Zealand;
Member, Academic Board, UTS: INSEARCH;
Former Senior Curator, Contemporary Decorative Arts and
Design, Powerhouse Museum 1988-2000;
Former Curator of Decorative Arts, National Gallery of Victoria
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 6; leave 0
Trustees retiring prior to 30 June 2014
Hon Helen Sham-Ho OAM BA, Dip Soc Wk, LLB
Term: 02.03.11 – 31.12.13
MLC, NSW Parliament 1988–2003;
Legal consultant;
Charter President, NSW Parliamentary Lions Club;
Vice President, NSW Parliament Asia–Pacific Friendship
Group;
Patron, Macquarie University Foundation;
Ambassador, University of Technology Sydney
Meetings: eligible 3; attended 3; leave 0
Ms Judith Wheeldon, AM, BS (Wis) MEd (Syd) FACE GAICD
Terms: 01.01.05 – 31.12.07: 01.01.08 – 31.12.10:
02.03.11 – 31.12.13
Board Member, Montessori Children’s Foundation,
Masterman Trust, UTS China Study Centre Advisory Board;
Former Headmistress, Abbotsleigh and Queenwood;
Former Member, Australian Teaching and Learning Council;
Federal Ministerial Advisory Committee on AIDS, Hepatitis C,
Aboriginal Sexual Health, Hepatitis C Subcommittee
Meetings: eligible 3; attended 1; leave 2
2. PRINCIPAL OFFICERS
Director, Rose Hiscock B. Com.
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Director Curatorial, Collection and Exhibitions, Dolla
Merrillees BA, GradDip (Museum Studies)
Director Public Engagement, Michael Parry B.Eng.
(Computer Systems) B.ASc. (Computer Science)
Director Corporate Resources and Chief Finance Officer,
Elizabeth Stratford B. Com. (Accounting Major) M. Public
Admin, Fellow, CPA Australia, Grad, AICD

Mr Tim Ebbeck BEc, FCPA, MAICD, FAIM
Term: 11.01.12 – 31.12.14
Managing Director, Oracle Australia and New Zealand
National Director, CPA Australia;
Former Chief Commercial Officer, NBN Co;
Former President and CEO, SAP Australia and New Zealand;
Former CFO, Asia Pacific of TMP Worldwide;
Former CFO, South Pacific Compaq Computers
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 6; leave 0
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3. OFF-SITE EXHIBITIONS
The Tinytoreum
• Museum of the Riverina, Wagga Wagga, NSW: 2 August
– 20 October 2013
Inspired by the Museum’s collection, with words and
illustrations by award-winning team Jackie French and Bruce
Whatley, the touring exhibition is based on the original
exhibition displayed at the Powerhouse Museum.
Faith, Fashion, Fushion: Muslim Women’s Style in
Australia
• Immigration Museum, Melbourne, VIC: 10 October 2013
– 10 June 2014
Faith, fashion, fusion challenges existing representations of
Islamic women’s clothing and explores the emerging modest
fashion market. It features the work of a new generation of
Australian designers offering stylish clothing for Muslim and
non-Muslim women, and profiles the fashion and lifestyle
choices of a diverse group Australian Muslim women.
Frock Stars: Inside Australian Fashion Week
• Western Australian Museum, WA: 31 October 2013 – 26
January 2014
• Museum of Tropical Queensland, QLD: 22 February 2014
– 25 May 2014
A touring exhibition based on the successful Powerhouse
Museum display about the behind-the-scenes workings of the
Australian fashion industry.
This exhibition is supported by Visions of Australia, an
Australian Government Program supporting touring
exhibitions by providing funding assistance for the
development and touring of cultural material across Australia.
Winning Sky Photos: The David Malin Awards 2013
• The Science Centre and Planetarium, Wollongong, NSW:
31 October 2013 – 8 December 2013
• Gravity Centre, Perth, WA: 20 December 2013 – 29
January 2014
• Scienceworks, Melbourne, VIC: 17 February – 1 June 2014
• Sir John Gorton Library, Kerang, VIC: 12 June – 12 July
2014
A travelling exhibition developed by the Central West
Astronomical Society (Parkes NSW) and supported by Canon
Australia, CSIRO and the Powerhouse Museum.
Living in a Sensory World: Stories from People with
Blindness and Low Vision
• Albury Library Museum, NSW: 14 December 2013 – 27
January 2014
• Noosa Regional Gallery, QLD: 21 February – 23 March
2014.
This exhibition gives visitors an understanding of the world of
the blindness and low vision community and celebrates their
achievements.
Developed by Vision Australia in partnership with the
Powerhouse Museum. This exhibition is supported by Visions
of Australia, an Australian Government Program supporting
touring exhibitions by providing funding assistance for the
development and touring of cultural material across Australia.
Trainspotting 2012
• Parkes Shire Library, NSW: 14 January – 28 February 2014
• Liverpool Regional Museum, NSW: 15 March – 26 May
2014
• Workshops Rail Museum, Ipswich, QLD: 17 June – 18
August 2014
This exhibition highlights a variety of styles and interests,
from documenting locomotives in motion to works that
explore the social experience of train travel.
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The Beatles in Australia
• Arts Centre Melbourne, VIC: 8 March – 1 July 2014
Developed in partnership with the Arts Centre Melbourne to
celebrate the 50th anniversary of the tour, the exhibition
explored its lasting impact on Australian music and popular
culture.
4. STAFF OVERSEAS TRAVEL
M Goggin, General Manager Museum Experience, 27 Jun – 9
Jul, UK and Sweden, To present a paper at the
Communicating the Museum Conference 2013 in Stockholm;
officially launch Sydney as the Host City for CTM14 and
conduct meetings with organisers
Dr Paul Donnelly, Curator, 19 Sept – 8 Nov, Greece. To
represent the Museum on the archaeological excavations and
develop educational web content at Zagora on the island of
Andros, Greece
Irma Havlicek, Online Producer (Microsites), 19 Sept – 8 Nov,
Greece, To represent the Museum on the archaeological
excavations and develop educational web content at Zagora
on the island of Andros, Greece
Min-Jung Kim, Curator, Design and Society, 4–17 Nov, Korea,
To take up an invitation from Korea Foundation to participate
in 15th Workshop for Korean-Art Curators at Overseas
Museums
Rebecca Bushby, Manager, Learning and Technology, 6–9
Nov, New Zealand, To attend the Network of Australasian
Exhibitors meeting
Rose Hiscock, Director, 11–25 Nov, UK France and Germany,
To build key relationships, negotiate travelling exhibition
agreements
Rose Hiscock, Director, 27–29 Nov, New Zealand, To attend
Council of Australasian Museum Directors General Meeting
Judith Coombes, Manager Registration, 16–24 Nov, Canada
and USA, To attend Museum Computer Network conference
and attend meetings in Washington
Dolla Merrillees, Director, Curatorial, Collections and
Exhibitions, 18–23 March, Korea. To attend opening of the
Dongdaemun Design Plaza and meet with museum directors
Dolla Merrillees, Director, Curatorial, Collections and
Exhibitions, 17–23 June, China and Singapore. To attend
travelling exhibition opening in Shanghai and to meet with
Singapore museum directors

5. STAFFING BY DEPARTMENT
Staff numbers at 30 June 2014
Directorate
Directorate

1

Policy & Planning

1

Corporate Development

2

Marketing

3.8

Total

7.8

Curatorial Collections & Exhibitions
Curatorial

22.8

Library Services

2

Intech Design

9

Exhibitions & Festivals Project Management
Design

6
4.2

Registration

20.2

Conservation

17.3

Visual & Digital Services
Editorial & Publishing
Total

10.63
4.8
96.93

Corporate Resources
Directorate

4.8

Finance

5.6

Information Systems & Exhibition Technologies
Facilities Management
Workshops

8
12
6

People & Culture

7

Records

3

Volunteer Coordination
Total

2.74
49.14

Public Engagement
Administration
Migration Heritage
Sydney Observatory
Regional Programs
Powerhouse Discovery Centre
Digital Social & Emerging Technologies

1
1
7.4
2
2.4
9

Customer Relations

6.6

Operations

22

Security

9.5

Contemporary Programs

4.7

Family & Community Experiences (FACE)

5.5

Education Programs

3.5

Commercial Operations & Events
Total
MUSEUM TOTAL (non-casual)

3.6
78.2
232.07
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6. EEO STATISTICS
A. Trends in the Representation of EEO Groups

% of Total Staff
Benchmark or
Target

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Women

50%

47%

53%

48%

47%

53%

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders

2%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

People whose first language was not English

20%

18%

38%

17%

16%

17%

People with a disability

12%

6%

9%

7%

7%

7%

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment

7%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

EEO Group

B. Trends in the Distribution of EEO Groups

Distribution Index
Benchmark or
Target

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

100

108

108

108

105

108

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

People whose first language was not English

100

97

97

97

97

98

People with a disability

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

EEO Group
Women

Notes:
1. Includes casual staff.
2. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that
of other staff. Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case
for other staff. The more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100,
indicating that the EEO group is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the
software provided by the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
3. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.
Comparison of staff numbers by occupational category
Staff Numbers (EFT) Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (non-casual)
Occupation Group
Manager and administrators
Professionals

2009–10

2010–11

2011–12

2012–13

2013–14

32

32

33

30

30

112

118

110

102

91

Technicians and associate professionals

33

35

36

31

22

Tradespersons and related workers

17

18

17

12

12

Advanced clerical, sales and service workers

6

7

6

5

5

Intermediate clerical, sales and service workers

62

63.2

63.6

61.8

63.07

Intermediate production and transport workers

1

1

1

1

1

Elementary clerical, sales and service workers

5

4

4

3

3

6.6

6

7

6

5

0

0

0

0

0

274.6

284.2

277.6

251.8

232.07

Labourers and related workers
Other
TOTAL

Staff employed at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are part of the NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional
Infrastructure and Services.
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7. SES POSITIONS

8. AUDIT ATTESTATION

During 2013–14 the following were members of the State
Government Senior Executive Service:

Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation for the
2013–14 Financial Year for the Museum of Applied Arts
and Sciences

Director Rose Hiscock from 29 July 2013
Director Dr Dawn Casey until 28 July 2013
Director Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer,
Elizabeth Stratford from 2 September 2013
Director Public Engagement Michael Parry from 13 January
2014
Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions Dolla Merrillees
from 13 January 2014
2014

Band

Female

Male

Band 4 (Secretary

0

0

Band 3 (Deputy Secretary)

0

0

Band 2 (Executive Director)

3

0

Band 1(Director)

1

1
2.5

Band

Range
$

Average
Remuneration
2014
$

Band 4 (Secretary

0

0

Band 3 (Deputy
Secretary)

0

0

Band 2 (Executive
Director)

238,301–299,750

250,554

Band 1 (Director)

167,100 – 238,300

197,851

I, Professor John Shine, am of the opinion that the Museum
of Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS) has internal audit and
risk management processes in operation that are, excluding
the exceptions described below, compliant with the core
requirements set out in Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08
Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy.
I, Professor John Shine, am of the opinion that the internal
audit and risk management processes for MAAS depart from
the following core requirements set out in Treasury Circular
NSW TC 09/08 and that (a) the circumstances giving rise to
these departures have been determined by the Portfolio
Minister and (b) the MAAS has implemented the following
practicable alternative measures that will achieve a level of
assurance equivalent to the requirement:

Ministerially Determined
Departure

Reason for Departure and
Description of Practicable
Alternative Measures
Implemented

Core Requirement 3 — The
Audit and Risk Committee
has an independent chair
and a majority of
independent members

Ministerial approval has
been granted which, in the
case of the MAAS, means
members of the Board of
Trustees of the MAAS are
taken to be independent.

I, Professor John Shine, am of the opinion that the Audit and
Risk Committee for the MAAS is constituted and operates in
accordance with the independence and governance
requirements of Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08. The Chair
and Members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:
• Chair to 21 May 2014. John Barbouttis, Trustee
(Term: 11 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 2014)
• Member from 21 May 2014. John Barbouttis, Trustee
(Term: 11 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 2014)
• Chair. From 21 May 2014. Elizabeth Bryan AM, Trustee
(Term 1 Jan 2014 – 31 Dec 2016)
• Member to 31 December 2013. Tim Ebbeck, Trustee
(Term: 11 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 14)
• Member Professor Shirley Alexander, Trustee
(Term: 23 Aug 2012 – 31 Dec 2012; 01 Jan 13 – 31 Dec 15)
These processes, including the practicable alternative
measures implemented, provide a level of assurance that
enables the senior management of the MAAS to understand,
manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures.
As required by the policy, I have submitted an Attestation
Statement outlining compliance with exceptions with the
policy to the Treasury on behalf of the Treasurer.

Professor John Shine
President
Date

67

9. ICT ATTTESTATION
I, Mark Paterson am of the opinion that the security controls
in place to mitigate identified risks to the digital information
and digital information systems of NSW Trade & Investment
require improvement in order to be made adequate for the
foreseeable future. A review performed during the year
identified several areas requiring improvement.
Given the scale and complexity of the department’s systems,
the implementation of information security, classification and
labelling will adopt a risk-based approach.
The work to address these specific areas led by the
departments Chief Information Officer, including the transition
to an information classification and labelling scheme, will be
completed by December 2015.
Mark Paterson AO
Secretary
NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional
Infrastructure and Services
10. LIFE FELLOWS
Ken Done AM
Gerry Gleeson AC
Lionel Glendenning
Linda Jackson
Prof Ron Johnston
Jenny Kee
Trevor Kennedy AM
Alan Landis
Terence Measham AM
Janet McDonald AO
Fred Millar AO, CBE
Dr Nicholas Pappas AM
Anne Schofield AM
Leo Schofield AM
Dr Lindsay Sharp
Richard (Dick) Smith AO
Hon James Spigelman AC, QC
Kylie Winkworth
Dr John Yu AC
11. LIFE MEMBERS
Mrs Cindy Bannon
Mr J R Baxter
Mr D Block
Mr W Dobson
Mr Ken Done AM
Mr Dennis Eccles
Ms Eva Filla
Mrs G H Flinn
Mr Gerald Gleeson AC
Mr Lionel Glendenning
Mr M Grossman
Mr John Hawkins
Mr Neville Hodgson
Mrs Beverley Horwitz
Ms Linda Jackson
Mr John C Jeremy
Prof Ron Johnston
Ms Jenny Kee
Mr Trevor Kennedy AM
Mr Alan Landis
Janet McDonald AO
Mr Terence Measham AM
Mr Fredrick Millar AO, CBE
Dr Nicholas Pappas AM
Mr R Reed
Mr Royston Riley
Mr P Root
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Ms Anne Schofield AM
Mr Leo Schofield AM
Mrs P Seidler
Dr Lindsay Sharp
Mr Dick Smith AO
The Hon JJ Spigelman AC, QC
Mr W S Tatlow
Dr Janet West
Ms Kylie Winkworth
Dr John Yu AC
12. HONORARY ASSOCIATES
Mr Warren Anderson — arms
Professor John Bach — maritime history
Major Ian Brookes — Japanese swords
Emeritus Professor Alexander Cambitoglou AO — classical
antiquities
Mr Dennis Eccles — clocks
Mr John Hawkins — silver
Mr Jolyon Warwick James — silver
Mr Alan Landis — ceramics, glass
Mr Ross Langlands — oriental rugs and textiles
Mr Randall Reed — ceramics, glass, silver
Ms Anne Schofield AM — costume, jewellery
Dr Janet West — scrimshaw and nautical crafts
Dr John Yu AC — ceramics, textiles, furniture
13. GUARANTEE OF SERVICE
Our commitment to our customers
The Museum is committed to continuous improvement in its
quality of service. We regularly evaluate our exhibitions,
programs and services.
A Customer Service Advocacy group was established in
March 2014. The Group developed a Customer Service
Manifesto and established an Award for Excellence in
Customer Service. This is presented to a staff member who
has received public recognition for their work. Presentations
are made at monthly All Staff meetings.
Our service standards
When you visit the Museum you will find:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

friendly, responsive and efficient staff;
well-maintained exhibitions and buildings;
a commitment to caring for objects in the collection and
on loan to the Museum;
accurate and appropriate information in response to your
inquiries;
a high standard of safety and security;
appropriate facilities (rest areas, cafes, toilets, baby
change room) for you to use;
appropriate access and services for those with special
needs (eg people with disabilities and those with a
language background other than English);
signage and information brochures that are helpful and
easy to understand;
printed information about Museum events in plain
English;
special services including:
–
guided tours in community languages, including
sign language, on a booked basis (minimum two
weeks notice), depending on availability of guides;
–
guided tours for visitors with blindness or low vision
on a booked basis (minimum two weeks notice)
depending on availability of guides.

For bookings and enquiries please call (02 9217 0222), fax
(02) 9217 0622 or email edserv@phm.gov.au

Our expectations of our visitors
We expect you to treat our staff, volunteers and exhibitions
with care and respect. We reserve the right to refuse
admission to patrons who behave inappropriately.
What to do if you have a suggestion or complaint
We welcome your comments and any suggestions you may
have for improving our services. If you are visiting the
Museum and have any comments, please talk to one of the
staff. A comments form is available at the cloaking desk if you
have a compliment, suggestion or complaint you wish to put
in writing. You may also contact us through the Museum’s
website: www.powerhousemuseum.com. Alternatively,
please feel free to write to the Museum or telephone
(02) 9217 0111.
Our commitment to you
Any written suggestion or complaint you make to the
Museum will be responded to within 10 working days.14.
PRIVACY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION
The Museum conducts its business in accordance with the
Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 and
with the Privacy Management Plan developed by the
Museum and submitted to the Privacy Commissioner in June
2000, in accordance with section 33 of the Act. The Museum
also follows an Online Privacy Statement which is on the
Museum’s website. If users provide any personal details via
the Museum’s website the privacy requirements of the
Statement are met.
14. PUBLIC ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Under section 7.3 of the Government Information (Public
Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 the Museum has reviewed the
currency and nature of information made publicly available. In
addition to the information on the management, governance
and operations available on our website the following policy
and procedural documents, reflecting the major operations
areas of the Museum, are available. The Museum has
reviewed information available to the public under Section
7(3) of the Act.
As changes or updates have been made to these policies or
plans they are updated on the website: http://www.
powerhousemuseum.com/about/policies.php
Code of Conduct
Collection Management Policy
Conflict of Interest
Conservation Policy
Controversy Management Policy
Corruption Prevention Policy
Deaccessioning Policy
Disposal Policy
Guarantee of Service
Incoming Loans Policy
Internet/Intranet Usage and Social Media Policy
Members Policy
WHS Committee Constitution
Online Privacy Statement
Outgoing Loans Policy
Outreach and Professional Services Fees Policy
Outreach Policy
Privacy Management Plan
Public Interest Disclosures Policy
Recycling Plan
Research and Publishing Policy
Sponsorship Policy
Storage Policy
Volunteers Program Policy
The following publication guide is presented in accordance
with section 20 of the Government Information (Public

Access) Act 2009. The full guide is available online at http://
www.powerhousemuseum.com/about/publication_guide.php
Structure and functions
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences was established
under the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Act 1945
(MAAS Act). The Museum has perpetual succession, has a
common seal, may purchase, hold, grant, demise, dispose of
or otherwise deal with real and personal property and may
sue and be sued in its corporate name ‘The Trustees of the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences’.
Section 4 of the MAAS Act establishes the Trustees of the
Museum. The Trustees are responsible for the conduct and
control of the affairs of the Museum and for its policies. All
officers and employees of the Museum are appointed or
employed under the GSE ACT 2014.
Section 14 of the MAAS Act states:
The Trustees shall have the following objects and may
exercise any or all of the following functions:
(a) the control and management of the Museum; and
(b) the maintenance and administration of the Museum in
such manner as will effectively minister to the needs
and demands of the community in any or all branches of
applied science and art and the development of industry
by:
(i) the display of selected objects arranged to illustrate
the industrial advance of civilisation and the
development of inventions and manufactures;
(ii) the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste by
illustrating the history and development of the
applied arts;
(iii) lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and other
educational means;
(iv) scientific research; or
(v) any other means necessary or desirable for the
development of the natural resources and
manufacturing industries of NSW.
Arrangements for outside participation
The Museum welcomes public comment and suggestions for
improving its services and facilities and regularly receives
representations from the public concerning its operations.
Consultation is carried out to determine the content of
exhibitions and programs and visitors are surveyed for their
responses. The Board of Trustees represent the public in the
management and policy formulation of the Museum.
In 2013–14 there were 382 customer comments forms,
letters or emails registered. As some forms contained more
than one comment, there were totals of 303 compliments,
126 complaints and 35 suggestions.
The breakdown of complaints: Museum general 4, exhibitions
34,exhibitions maintenance 10 public programs 10, customer
service 12, Members 4, promotion/publicity 7, external
signage 7, internal signage 3, facilities 7, admission charge 2,
cafés 13, shop 2, school groups 2, premises 2, website 6,
Sydney Observatory 1.
Contact arrangements
Requests for records or documents under the Government
Information (Public Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 should be
accompanied by a $30.00 application fee and directed to:
Right to Information Officer
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences
500 Harris Street, Utimo NSW 2007
Phone (02) 9217 0576 Fax (02) 9217 0494
The Museum received no access applications in regard to the
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 in 2013–14.
One request was made in 2012–13. The application was
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subsequently withdrawn by the applicant and resubmitted to
another body.
Public Interest Disclosures:
Number of officials who made PIDs — 0
Number of PIDs received — 0
Number of PIDs finalised — 0

19. CONSULTANTS
Engagements costing less than $50,000
Service Provided

Number of
Engagements

Cost $

Strategic Planning

1

25,800

The Museum has a Public Interest Disclosures Policy which
was ratified by the Board of Trustees and posted for
reference on both the intranet and Museum website.

Communications Planning

1

7,100

Fire Engineering Services
review

1

8,750

15. LEGISLATIVE CHANGE

Job Evaluation

1

2,300

There was one legislative change which affected the
Museum in 2013–14.

Total Consultancies

On 24 February 2014 the GSE Act came into effect, replacing
the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 2002.

There were no other consultants engaged by the Museum in
2013–14

The Act classifies public sector agencies which employ staff
as either a Department, an Executive Agency related to a
Department, or a separate Public Service Agency.

20. BUDGET ESTIMATES

NSW Trade & Investment is designated as a Department,
with the Secretary as its head. The Secretary is the employer
of all staff within the Department. Staff within the
Department be transferred to Executive Agencies.

Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial
year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7(1)(a)
(iii) of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The
budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency is
one of these.
Senior Executive Service members remain the employees of
the Executive Agency, however their contract of employment
is with the Secretary of NSW Trade & Investment.
16. MAJOR WORKS
There was one major capital works project undertaken by the
Museum over the 2013–14 financial year. The Museum
classifies major works as a single project funded by a NSW
Treasury Capital Grant in excess of $5 million.
The Shared Storage and Access facility is described in the
Year in Review section of this Report.
17. WASTE MANAGEMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
The Eastern Creek Alternative Waste Technology Facility
manages the Museum’s waste. It diverts waste from landfill,
maximises recycling and produces compost and green
energy. Food waste is diverted from landfill and processed
into high grade fertiliser for agriculture and green electricity;
plastics, glass and aluminium are recycled; and paper and
cardboard are recycled. All Museum waste is mixed on
collection and sorted manually and mechanically at the facility.
80.92 tonnes of waste were collected over the period and
82% was diverted from landfill.
154 items of obsolete computer, networking, audiovisual and
other office equipment was disposed of sustainably through
Computer Source and SITA.
The Museum is registered with Close the Loop, a resource
recovery provider. All printer, photocopier and fax machine
consumables are collected for recycling. In 2013–14, 137 kg
of material were diverted from landfill.
18. CREDIT CARD USAGE
The Museum has a Credit Card Policy which has been issued
to all users. No irregularities were recorded in 2013–14 and
credit card use has been in accordance with Premier’s
Memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.
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43,950

2013–14
$000’s

2014–15
$000’s

-

24,544

Expenditure
Operating Expenses
Employee Related
Personnel Services

25,873

-

Other Operating Expenses

13,986

14,381

Depreciation and Amortisation

5,250

5,479

45,109

44,404

Recurrent Grant

27,750

27,656

Capital Grant

18,525

23,635

6,153

5,840

490

490

4,079

3,779

359

393

1,805

872

208

8

59,369

62,673

Total Expenditure
Revenue

Sale of Goods and Services
Investment Income
Grants and Contributions
Other Revenue
Acceptance of State Liabilities
Gain on disposal of non
current assets
Total Revenue

21. PAYMENT PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2013–14
Value of Accounts due and payable by the Museum at the end of each quarter

Current

as at
30 Sep 13
$

as at
31 Dec 13
$

as at
31 Mar 14
$

as at
30 Jun 14
$

681,985

182,172

169,894

783,650

Less than 30 days overdue

386

15,346

-3,637

14,532

Between 30 & 60 days overdue

12,914

3,371

-202

7,179

Between 60 & 90 days overdue

1,854

1,790

2,515

1,227

More than 90 days overdue

2,123

-552

9,964

5,322

699,262

202,127

178,534

811,910

These amounts do not include accruals of expenses for which no claim for payment had been made at the end of the quarter.
Amount & value of accounts paid by the Museum on time in each quarter
% Paid
on time

Paid on
Time $

Total Paid
$

30 September 2013

94.6%

7,549

7,978

31 December 2013

78.1%

2,728

3,494

31 March 2014

89.0%

4,463

5,016

30 June 2014

84.2%

4,727

5,614

Quarter ending

The Museum’s policy is to endeavour to ensure that all payments to suppliers are made promptly and in line with State
Government guidelines. In some circumstances, certain issues relating to claims for payment require further clarification with
suppliers. In such cases payment is made promptly once agreement is reached on matters requiring clarification.
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ACCESS DETAILS
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM
500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Administration hours: 9.00 am to 5.00 pm Monday to Friday
Phone (02) 9217 0111 Fax (02) 9217 0333
Open 10.00 am to 5.00 pm every day (closed Christmas Day)
School holidays open 9.30 am to 5.00 pm
Powerhouse Infoline (for information about what’s on):
phone (02) 9217 0444
Education services bookings and enquiries:
phone (02) 9217 0222; fax (02) 9217 0622;
email edserv@phm.gov.au
www.powerhousemuseum.com
Admission charges (as at 30 June 2014)
Adults $15.00
Child (4 to 15) $8.00
Concessions (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social Security
and Veterans Affairs cardholders) $8.00
Students $8.00
Education group bookings (per student) $8.00
Family groups (2 adults/2 children or 1 adult/3 children) $38.00
Powerhouse Members, children under 4 free
Members of ICOM, Members of Museums Australia Inc free
Group concessions: discounts apply for groups of 10 or more
Additional admission charges apply to some temporary
exhibitions
SYDNEY OBSERVATORY
1003 Upper Fort Street, Millers Point NSW 2000
Phone (02) 9921 3485
Open daily 10.00 am to 5.00 pm
Open nightly Monday to Saturday. Open Sunday nights during
school holidays
Closed Christmas day/night, Boxing day/night and Easter
Friday day/night
Summer (Dec/Jan): 1 session at 8.3 0pm
Spring/Autumn: 1 session at 8.15 pm
Winter: 2 sessions at 6.15 & 8.15 pm
Bookings required
www.sydneyobservatory.com.au
Admission Charges — Day
3-D Space Theatre and telescope viewing
Adults $8.00
Concessions (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social Security
and Veterans Affairs cardholders, students) $6.00
Child (4 to 15) $6.00
Family (2 adults/2 children or 1 adult/3 children) $22.00
Free admission to the gardens and exhibitions
Admission Charges — Night
Includes 3-D Space Theatre, telescope viewing and a guided
tour
Adults $18.00
Child (4 to 15) $12.00
Concession and students $14.00
Family (2 adults/2 children or 1 adult/3 children) $50.00
Discounts are offered to Powerhouse Members for all
activities
Other discounts may apply
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POWERHOUSE DISCOVERY CENTRE: COLLECTION
STORES AT CASTLE HILL
172 Showground Road, Castle Hill NSW 2154
Postal address: PO Box 8025, Baulkham Hills NSW 2153
Administration hours: 9.00 am to 4.30 pm Monday to Friday
Phone (02) 9762 1300 Fax (02) 9762 1304
Email castlehill@phm.gov.au
www.castlehill.powerhousemuseum.com
Due to major construction works on site, the Centre will be
closed from August 2014 and reopen in mid 2015. Reopening
details will be posted on the website.
Please contact the Discovery Centre for bookings and
information.
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM MEMBERS
Phone (02) 9217 0600 or members@phm.gov.au
Members Lounge open 10.00 am to 4.30 pm every day
(closed Christmas Day)
VOLUNTEERS
If you are interested in volunteer work or have any enquiries,
please contact (02) 9217 0676 for details.

